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To cur shareholders,
At this time last year, we said 2001 was shaping up to be a challenging year. It was
clear that the unprecedented level of technology spending we saw in 1999 and 2000
was subsiding. Well-established organizations - our clients - were taking a break

to digest and integrate the investments that they had made during this period.
Additional technology spending was, for the most part, deferred until companies

felt they had done everything possible to realize value from previous investments.

2001 was, indeed, a difficult year for Sapient.
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For the fiscal year that ended December 31, 2001, consolidated revenues were
$329.7 million, a 34-percent decrease over revenues of $503.3 million for 2000.
Pro forma net loss (before amortization of intangibles, acquisition costs, stock-
based compensation charges, restructuring charges, and other non-recurring
items along with the associated tax effects] for 2001 was $53.5 million, or $0.43
per diluted share, compared to pro forma net income of $57.7 million, or $0.43
per diluted share, for the year ended 2000. Net loss (as reported under U.S. GAAP)
for the year totaled $189.8 million, or $1.53 per diluted share, compared to net
income of $47.0 million, or $0.35 per diluted share, for the year ended 2000.

On a positive note, our balance sheet remains solid, with combined cash and
short-term investments of $245 million as of December 31. We are also pleased
with the performance of our international operations. Revenues from these

units increased by 73 percent to over $75 million in 2001,

2001 Financial Highlights Sapient Corporation

Year End 12.31.01 Year End 12.31.00 Change
Revenue (in thousands) $329,698 $503,339 ($173,641)
Net Income* [in thousands) $(53,484) $57,749 [($111,233)
Earnings per Share* $(0.43) $0.43 ($0.86)

*These amounts exclude amortization of intangibles, acquisition costs, stock-based compensation
charges, restructuring charges and other non-recurring items along with the associated tax effects.




Looking Back
A number of factors contributed to making the market of 2001 the toughest we have

experienced in our history.

In the context of an overall economic slowdown and the uncertainty introduced by
the tragic events of September 11, technology spending declined significantly.
Compared to double-digit growth rates in technology spending in the United States
in 1999 and 2000, overall technology spending decreased over 8 percent in 2001 by

our estimation. Spending on more advanced technologies decreased even more
rapidly. After years of technology investment driven by fear of being devoured by
the dot-com revolution and characterized by the absence of business cases and
integration planning, Global 2000 companies put further investment on hold and
focused on cleaning up what they had. New investments in technology were limited
to low-risk projects with readily demaonstrable cost-reduction benefits and near-
term payback. Investments in advanced technologies, even those that would
generate near-term financial benefits, were often deferred or eliminated. This

area has always been our focus and strength in the market.

Our market was characterized, as a result, by lower demand, greater risk aversion,
and longer decision-making cycles. A disproportionate rate of decline between
client spending and industry capacity added to the challenge. Many firms, Sapient
included, took actions to reduce their headcount. A number of acquisitions and
mergers served to further reduce capacity, and some of the weaker industry players
did not survive. However, these actions were insufficient to offset the dramatic
buildup in capacity that had occurred in our industry over the past few years and

the resutting supply-demand imbalance put severe pressure on pricing. Aggressive

discounting was necessary to win assignments in most cases.

In response, Sapient took difficult, but necessary, steps. We reduced our headcount

from approximately 3,400 at the beginning of 2007 to just over 2,400 by the end of

Uﬂﬂﬁ.@d States "Sapient has helped us to define ways to significantly streamline our supply-chain processes, reduce
Marine Co rps inventory, and make significant improverments to our overall combat service support model and
supporting technology infrastructure. They have been invaluable at infusing commercial best practices
into the Marine Corps togistics processes and helping us down a path where we can become a much
leaner and more effective fighting force.”

Colonel Robert Love, United States Marine Corps




the year. Many talented and dedicated people were affected by these hard decisions.
We also shifted the mix and location of some of our personnel. By December, one
third of our delivery capacity was located in our New Delhi office. Globally distributed
detivery (GDDJ, which is how we refer to this mix of capacity, allows us to offer our
clients 24-by-7 development cycles at highly competitive rates. Our local and dis-
tributed teams work in a fully integrated manner to deliver highly complex projects
while meeting our high standards for on-time, on-budget, and on-specification per-
formance. We have delivered over 30 projects under this model, and this capability
represents a significant dimension of differentiation and advantage in our overall

competitive positioning.

Additional actions taken during the year included reducing our real-estate costs,
improving operational efficiency in some of our non-billable functions, and beginning
the migration of some internal support functions to cur New Delhi office. Qur strong
financial position has allowed us to be judicious in cutting only those costs that do

not impact our ability to do great work for our clients.

In addition to implementing our GDD strategy, there were several other accomplish-

ments of note during 2007:

1) We continued to add to the depth and quality of our management team. The
team grew with the addition of Yoshinobu Ishigaki as president of Sapient's
Japan operations, Colin Windsor as managing director of Sapient in the United
Kingdom, Steven Haffman as senior vice president leading the company’s
corporate marketing and strategy activities, and John Flynn as vice president
leading the insurance practice within the company’s Financial Services industry
group. In addition, Sheeroy Desai was appointed chief operating officer, and

Donald Nelson was appointed chief infoermation officer.

“The skills and expertise of Sapient’s global team were critical to meet the management and development
requirements for this new venture. Sapient was our central technology partner for Opodo and can be

justifiably proud of helping to create a business that will transform the online travel market.”

Giovanni Bisignani, Chief Executive, Opodo




2] We implemented a newly designed business-development process to add
more discipline to our selling efforts. The process is designed to significantly
increase the flow of opportunities into the company as well as increase our
win rate against those opportunities. Additionally, we have added over 20

business-development professionals to our team.

3} We shifted our North American organizational structure to complete industry
alignment. This shift allows us to focus our expertise more effectively on

business issues and opportunities specific to our targeted industry sectors.

4} We supplemented our service offering and improved our value proposition by
expanding our long-term support business and basing it upon the GDD model.

Providing this service enables us to ensure that our clients continue to realize

sustained business results from the solutions that we have developed for them.
An additional benefit, of course, is the added visibility into our future perform-
ance that these recurring streams of revenue create for us. In 2001, this

business represented 5 percent of revenue.

Looking Forward

Our outlook reflects a high degree of confidence in the future of technology
investment and our positioning in the marketplace. It is also tempered by

near-term caution.

As we enter 2002, market conditions continue to be challenging. Although the U.S.
economy has begun to recover, technology spending continues to contract. We are
seeing signs of a recovery in some sectors, with increased spending on technology

already noticeable. In other sectors to date, however, we have only seen an increase

Harrah’s “Given our leadership position in our industry, competitors will inevitably try to leapfrog us with new
technologies or other techniques, so we need to continue working faster, better, and smarter to stay out
in front. Sapient's iterative development approach, GDD capabilities, people, and processes have been
important in allowing us to do just that. Sapient has contributed more to our organization than just
collaborating with our IT team on technology sclutions. We have also benefited from leveraging some




in the number of conversations we are having with prospective clients and their
expressions of interest in exploring potential future investments. And in some other
important industries - notably telecommunications, energy services, and capital
markets - even these early signs of recovery are not yet visible. Additionally, a great
deal of uncertainty remains about the economic outlook in some of the European
and Asian markets in which we compete. While we expect to see further consolida-
tion activity in our industry, thus far we have seen little reduction in the level of
excess capacity in the market or in the resultant pricing pressure. Although none
of this has shaken our confidence in the eventual rebound of technology spending,

we believe this rebound will be a slow and uneven process.

A lot of what we saw last year, and are still seeing, is temporal -the characteristics
of the low-end of the technology-spending cycle. But we also see some fundamental
and permanent changes to our market and the way our customers buy technology.
While these changes will create additional short-term challenges, we believe that

they ultimately play to our strengths and strategy:

1} Distributed development is here to stay and will permanently change the
economics of our business. Competitors that cannot or have not adjusted
their operating model and cost structure to reflect this reality will face

continuous pressure on their margins.

2} Clients will only make technology investments if they are justified by

defensible business cases.

3) Increasingly, technology companies will be required to put “skin in the
game” {i.e., share the risk] against their clients’ realization of the expected

business benefits.

Fﬁ“ﬁﬂﬁwﬁ%ﬂmm

of their development processes and approaches into our organization. Furthermore, we have also been
able to increase our overall throughput in IT, and focus our IT professionals on even more new innovations
and initiatives. Sapient has been an invaluable partner in helping us realize our customer loyalty vision
and achieve our ambitious IT goals.”

Tim Stanley, Harrah’s Vice President of Information Technology

Harrah's




We have already said we believe that we are ahead of our competitors with our
GDD model and the geographic balance of our delivery capacity. We are equally
confident in our positioning in regard to creating business value and sharing the risk
surrounding its achievement. Sapient was founded to help clients realize business
value from their technology investments. We built our company on the philosophy
that we should take accountability for the risks in the performance, timeliness, and

cost of technology projects. And to this day, we continue to go to market with a

decided preference for doing our work on a fixed-price, fixed-time basis. But deliv-
ering a system on time, on budget, and on specification is not enough to ensure
that clients realize attractive rates of return on their investments. In 2001, we began
a process to ensure that our teams and our clients agreed upon the measurable
business results expected from every one of our projects. We also increased the
monitoring and measuring of our performance in helping reatize these results. We
are so confident in our teams’ ability to deliver measurable business results that
we tell our clients that we are willing to put a part of our fees at risk agzinst that

outcome - a pricing structure we call Performance Pricing.

We remain committed to being the industry leader in helping companies identify,
deploy, and support advanced technology to create near-term business va.ue. Over
the years, we have been pioneers in many technological areas, ranging from open
systems integration and client-server computing, to mobile computing and, of
course, the Internet. But our focus has always been on combining the best of the
new with the still-valuable parts of the old and aligning all of it within a program
aimed at delivering near-term business value. While spending on advanced tech-
nologies will likely be the slowest part of the technology sector to recover, the
digitization of business is just beginning. Technologies such as web services,
wireless, and sensors are enabling dramatic changes in intra- and inter-company

business models. These technologies wiil generate significant improvements in

cost position, customer service, and asset utilization for those companies “hat

Rock-Tenn

“Sapient laid out an excellent framework for us to realize significant business value. They were
impressive on all fronts, including glebal knowledge and involvement in the Rock-Tenn/Alliance arena’
Larry Shutzberg, Vice President and Chief Information Officer, Rock-Tenn




move quickly and confidently to adopt them. We will continue to be the leader in

partnering with these companies and giving them the confidence to take advantage

of these opportunities.

In 2002, we will remain focused on driving our business back to growth and

profitability. We will retain our obsession with superb execution and the delivery

of measurable business results on all of our client projects. We will continue to

use our financial strength wisely and invest in enhancing those capabitities

necessary to support a differentially superior value proposition. We expect to see

substantial benefits from our continuing initiatives to improve our business-

development process and expand our long-term support business. Additicnally,
we are putting increased emphasis on our marketing activities, which are targeted

at strengthening the awareness by all relevant constituencies of the Sapient brand

and what it stands for.

It has been a tough year for all of us at Sapient, but, as we look to the future and
the opportunities and challenges it will bring, we remain committed to our clients,

our shareholders, and our people -and to delivering on the premise and promise

of Sapient:

To be the best company in the world at helping our clients realize measurable

business results from their investments in advanced technology.

Thanks for your continued support,

Jerry A. Greenberg
Co-Chief Executive Officer
Co-Chairman of the Board

“Overseas brokers have always known that Lloyd's offers the broadest array of specialist insurance coverage,

Ve

J. Stuart Moore
Co-Chief Executive Officer
Co-Chairman of the Board

but they have had difficulty accessing our market. With this work, Sapient has helped us to increase the
transparency of the market and show potential custormers the choice and diversity that is Lloyd's.”

iick Prettejohn, Chief Executive, Lloyd's of London

Lloyd’s
of London
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Co-Chief Executive Officer
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Co-Chairman of the Board
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Executive Vice President
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Bruce D. Parker
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Christopher R. Davey
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Senior Vice President
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Chief Financial Officer
Senior Vice President
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Senior Vice President

Donald R. Nelson

Chief Information Officer
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute “forward-looking state-
ments” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. All statements included in this Annual Report, other than statements of historical
facts, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues, projected costs,
prospects, plans and objectives are forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report, the words
“will,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project” and similar expressions are intended
to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying
words. We cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements and you should not
place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including the risks described in
Part 11, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential
impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or strategic investments. In addition,
any forward-looking statements represent our expectation only as of the day this Annual Report was first filed
with the SEC and should not be relied on as representing our expectations as of any subsequent date. While
we may elect to update forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we specifically disclaim any
obligation to do so, even if our estimates change.
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Selling and Marketing

The role of Sapient’s marketing program is to create and sustain preference and loyalty among our clients
for Sapient as their preferred business and technology consultants. Marketing is performed at the corporate
and industry business unit levels.

Our dedicated marketing personnel undertake a variety of marketing activities, including sponsoring
focused multi-client events to demonstrate our thought leadership, media and industry analyst outreach,
market analysis, recruitment marketing, sponsoring and participating in targeted conferences, holding private
briefings with individual companies and publishing of our website, www.sapient.com.

Qur sales professionals are primarily organized along our six industry business units. We believe that the
industry focus of our sales professionals and of our industry business unit marketing teams enhances their
knowledge and expertise in these industries and generates additional client engagements.

We are also continuing to actively build relationships and strategic alliances with other technology
companies and packaged technology vendors. These relationships involve a wide range of joint activities,
including working jointly on client engagements, evaluating and recommending each other’s technology
solutions to customers, and training and transferring knowledge regarding each other’s solutions. We believe
that these relationships and strategic alliances will enable us to provide better delivery and value to our existing
clients and will attract new clients through referrals and joint engagements.

Our written agreements with our clients contain varying terms and conditions, including in some
instances the right of the client to terminate the agreement with limited advance notice or penalty. We do not
believe it is generally appropriate to characterize these agreements as backlog.

Competition

The markets for the services we provide are highly competitive. We believe that we currently compete
principally with large accounting and consulting firms and systems consulting and implementation firms. We
compete to a lesser extent with specialized e-business consulting firms, offshore outsourcing companies,
strategy consulting firms, other packaged technology vendors and our clients’ own internal information systems
groups. Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, and
generate greater revenues and have greater name recognition, than we do. These competitors are often able to
offer greater scale and breadth of products and services, which in some instances has enabled them to
significantly discount their services in exchange for revenues in other areas or at later dates.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets include: ability to solve business
problems; expertise and talent with advanced technologies; global presence; quality and speed of delivery; price
of solutions; industry knowledge; user experience and sophisticated project and program management
capability.

We believe that we compete favorably when considering these factors and that our willingness and ability
to rapidly deliver business value to our clients through advanced technology solutions on a fixed-price basis
distinguishes us from our competitors.

Intellectual Property Rights

We rely upon a combination of trade secrets, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and
copyright and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. We enter into confidentiality agreements with
our employees, consultants and clients, and limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information.

Our services involve the development of business and technology solutions for specific client engage-
ments. Ownership of these solutions is the subject of negotiation and is frequently assigned to the client,
although we may retain a license for certain uses. Certain of our clients have prohibited us from marketing the
solutions developed for them for specified periods of time or to specified third parties, and we anticipate that
certain of our clients will demand similar or other restrictions in the future.
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Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters and principal administrative, finance, selling and marketing operations are located in
approximately 88,000 square feet of leased office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. We also lease offices in
New York (2), San Francisco, Chicago, Atlanta, Dallas, Los Angeles, Washington D.C., Denver, Houston,
Diisseldorf, London, Munich, New Delhi, Tokyo and Toronto. In connection with the restructuring plan
announced on February 26, 2002, we will further reduce our office space at each of our office locations in the
United States.

Ktem 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not Applicable.




Executive Officers of Sapient

Below are the name, age and principal occupations for the last five years of each executive officer of
Sapient, as of March 15, 2002. All such persons have been elected to serve until their successors are elected
and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal.

Sheeroy D. Desai . ... .. 36
Jerry A. Greenberg .... 36
Steven J. Hoffman ... .. 48
Susan D. Johnson ..... 36
J. Stuart Moore ....... 40
Jane E. Owens ........ 48
Bruce D. Parker....... 54

Mr. Desai joined Sapient in 1991 and has served as Executive Vice
President since September 1994. Mr. Desai served as Co-Chief Operating
Officer from October 1999 until May 2000, and has served as Chief
Operating Officer since April 2001.

Mr. Greenberg co-founded Sapient in 1991 and has served as Co-Chairman
of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officer and as a director
since Sapient’s inception.

Mr. Hoffman joined Sapient in January 2001 as Senior Vice President. Prior
to joining Sapient, Mr. Hoffman served as President of Concrete Media,
Inc., a business consulting company, from January 2000 to July 2000, and as
Managing Director of Exchange Partners LLC, a business consulting
company, from May 1996 to January 2000.

Ms. Johnson joined Sapient in February 1994 and served as Chief Financial
Officer from February 1994 until January 2000. Ms. Johnson served as
Senior Vice President from January 2000 to February 2002. Ms. Johnson
resumed the position of Chief Financial Officer in February 2002.

Mr. Moore co-founded Sapient in 1991 and has served as Co-Chairman of
the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officer and as a director
since Sapient’s inception.

Ms. Owens joined Sapient in September 2000 as Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary. Prior to joining Sapient, Ms. Owens served
as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Dial
Corporation, a consumer products company, from May 1997 to September
2000, and as Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary of the
Timberland Company, an apparel company, from September 1992 to May
1997.

Mr. Parker joined Sapient in December 1999 as an Executive Vice
President. Mr. Parker has been a director of Sapient since September 1995.
From December 1997 until December 1999, Mr. Parker served as Senior
Vice President and Chief Information Officer at United Airlines, Inc. From
September 1994 to December 1997, Mr. Parker was Senior Vice
President — Management Information Systems and Chief Information
Officer at Ryder System Inc., a transportation company.




PART II

Item 5. Market for the Company’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
fa) Market Price of Common Stock
Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “SAPE.” The following

table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low intraday sale prices for our common stock, and has
been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split effected as a 100% stock dividend paid on August 28, 2000.

_High _ Fow

2000
st QUar T . oo $75.59  $33.06
Second QUarter .. ..ot $60.25  $27.25
Third QUaTter . . ...ttt $74.53  $40.06
Fourth Quarter........... ... ... .. ... ...... e $4575 $ 8.94

2001
First Quarter........... N $19.88 § 6.97
Second QUATET ... ... i e $15.25 $ 5.23
Third QUarteTr . . ot e e e $980 § 3.5
Fourth Quarter . ... .. e $ 860 § 354

On March 15, 2002, the last reported sale price of our common stock was $4.65 per share. As of
March 15, 2002, there were approximately 400 holders of record of our common stock and approximately
36,000 beneficial holders of our common stock.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying
cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

(b) Use of Proceeds

The following information updates the use of proceeds information that we previously provided relating to
securities that we sold pursuant to Registration Statements on Form S-1 (Registration Nos. 333-1586 and
333-3204) in connection with our initial public offering, both of which were declared effective on April 3,
1996. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we utilized all of the remaining proceeds from our initial
public offering. We used approximately $11.1 million in connection with our restructuring actions and the
remaining $17 million in connection with working capital for the operation of our business. None of the
proceeds were used as finder’s fees or other payments to any of our directors, officers or other affiliates, except
for payments we made in the ordinary course of business to our directors and oiﬁcers for directors’ fees, salary
and bonus out of our working capital.




Item 6, Selected Financial Data

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The Balance Sheet Data at
December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the Statement of Operations Data for the three years ended December 31,
2001 have been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for such years, included
elsewhere in this Annual Report. The Balance Sheet Data at December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 and the
Statement of Operations Data for the two years ended December 31, 1998 have been derived from the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements for such years, not included in this Annual Report.

Statement of Operations Data (1) (2):

Revenues ........ .. ...,

Operating expenses:
Project personnel costs . ........... ce
Selling and marketing costs .............
General and administrative costs. ........
Restructuring and other related charges. . .
Amortization of intangible assets ........
Stock-based compensation . .............
In-process research and development . . . ..
Acquisition costs . ............ .. ... ...,

Total operating expenses ...........

Income (loss) from operations ............
Gain on equity investment change in interest
Other eXpense . ........oovurroenneeann..
Interest income . .............. ... . .....
Income (loss) before income taxes, net

equity loss from investees and minority
interest .. ...

Income tax provision (benefit) ............

Income (loss) before net equity loss from
investees and minority interest ..........

Net equity loss from investees.............

Minority interest in net loss of consolidated
subsidiary . ....... ...

Net income (loss) ......................
Basic net income (loss) per share .........
Diluted net income (loss) per share........

Weighted average common shares .........
Weighted average common share equivalents

Weighted average common shares and
common share equivalents .. ............

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)

$ 329,698 $503,339 $276,844 §164,872 $ 92,027
235,766 249,279 134,638 80,543 44,623
27,949 33,903 21,429 11,269 6,074
131,729 135,424 69,388 41,675 22,571
100,640 — — — —
28,126 11,328 2,284 687 —
4,449 2,165 2,029 4,499 —
— — — 11,100 —
— — 2,340 — 560
528,659 432,099 232,108 149,773 73,828
(198,961) 71,240 44,736 15,099 18,199
1,407 — — — —
(4,677)  (1,250) — — —
9,407 11,678 4,227 2,925 2,058
(192,824) 81,668 48,963 18,024 20,257
(3,091) 33,925 18,506 8,660 7,703
(189,733) 47,743 30,457 9,364 12,554
(499) (878) (157) — —
464 95 — — —_—
$(189,768) § 46,960 § 30,300 § 9,364 $ 12,554
§ (1.53) $ 039 § 027 § 009 § 0.13
$ (153) $ 035 $ 024 $ 008 $ 0.12
124,256 119,191 111,418 104,456 99,148
— 14,573 14,208 10,348 8,332
124,256 133,764 125,626 114,804 107,480




December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital . ........... ... ... .... $ 257,818  $318,467  $257,251  $121,779 $ 76,409
Total assets ... 474,870 604,154 343,189 182,955 98,867
Long-term debt, less current portion ....... — — — — —
Total stockholders’ equity(3) ............. 380,770 525,400 304,959 154,814 82,307

(1) This selected consolidated financial data gives retroactive effect to our acquisition of Adjacency, Inc. (Adjacency) in
March 1999 and EXOR Technologies, Inc. (EXOR) in December 1997, each of which has been accounted for as a
pooling-of-interests. As a result of these business combinations, the financial information shown above has been
restated to include the accounts and results of operations of Adjacency and EXOR for all periods presented. See
Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) All share and per share data have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock splits effected as
100 percent stock dividends paid on August 28, 2000, November 5, 1999 and March 9, 1998.

(3) We have never declared or paid any cash dividends.

Ttem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Our financial results for 2001 declined substantially from our financial results for 2000, due primarily to
the decrease in the demand for our services, and the demand, in general, for advanced technology consulting
services. This decrease reflected the declining economic climate in the United States in late 2000 and in 2001.
As a result of this decrease in demand, our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001 decreased 34%
from our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000, and our net income declined from $47.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000 to a net loss of $189.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Our
quarterly revenues declined sequentially throughout the year, with our revenues for the three month periods
ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2001 decreasing 22%, 20%, 20% and 10%,
respectively, from each of the previous quarters. We expect to experience a further decline in our revenues,
and flat or declining operating results, for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, which could continue into future
quarters. As a result of the losses incurred for the year ended December 31, 2001 and the expected further
decline in our revenues in the first quarter of 2002, we reduced our work force in March 2001, July 2001 and
Febrnary 2002. We also reduced office space in cities throughout the United States and closed our Sydney,
Australia office. Although our operating cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2001 resulted in a use of
cash of $33.6 million, our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31, 2001 were
$244.5 million, and we anticipate our balance of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments fo be in
excess of $200 million at the end of the first quarter of 2002. We believe that our existing cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure and
restructuring requirements for at least the next 18 months.

We cannot predict when the market for advanced technology consulting services will improve. When the
market does improve, we cannot predict whether, and to what extent, the demand for our services will
increase. We believe that the current lack of demand for advanced technology consulting services will continue
during the first part of 2002, and that our operations and financial results will continue to be negatively
affected during that period. Any continued decline in our revenues will have a significant impact on our
financial results, particularly because a significant portion of our operating costs (such as personnel, rent and
depreciation) are fixed in advance of a particular quarter. As a result, despite cost savings realized from our
March 2001 and July 2001 restructuring plans, and anticipated cost savings from our additional restructuring
actions announced in February 2002, our costs for project personnel, sales and marketing and general and
administrative could continue to increase as a percentage of revenues, thereby affecting our operating results.
Also, despite the March 2001 and July 2001 restructuring plans, we announced a further reduction in our
workforce in February 2002 due to an expected further decline in our revenues and flat or declining operating
results for the quarter ended March 31, 2002. As a result of this reduction, we had 2,105 full-time employees
as of March 15, 2002, composed of 1,627 project personnel, 385 general and administrative personnel and 93




sales and marketing personnel. We expect to take a restructuring charge in the first quarter of 2002 of
approximately $50 to $55 million, which will consist of severance and related expenses from the reduction in
workforce, and other charges related to office space consolidations. We expect cost savings from the
restructuring plan announced in February 2002 of approximately $4 million in the first quarter of 2002, and
approximately $20 million per quarter thereafter upon full implementation of the announced plan.

Our future revenues and operating results may also fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on the
number, size and scope of projects in which we are engaged, the contractual terms and degree of completion of
such projects, any delays incurred in connection with a project, employee utilization rates, the adequacy of
provisions for losses, the use of estimates of resources required to complete ongoing projects, general economic
conditions and other factors. In addition, revenues from a large project or client may constitute a significant
portion of our total revenues in a particular quarter.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies; Significant Judgments and Estimates

Cur discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These items are regularly monitored and
analyzed by management for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates
could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. We
base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from our estimates if past experience or other assumptions
do not turn out to be substantially accurate.

A summary of those accounting policies that we believe are most critical to fully understanding and
evaluating our financial results is set forth below. This summary should be read in conjunction with our
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

= Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We recognize all of our revenue from
the provision of professional services under written service contracts with our clients. We derive a
significant portion of our revenue from fixed-price, fixed-timeframe contracts. All revenue generated
from fixed-price contracts is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, based
on labor hours incurred to total labor hours. This method is used since reasonably dependable estimates
of the revenues and costs applicable to various stages of a contract can be made, based on historical
experience and milestones set in the contract. Qur failure to accurately estimate the resources required
for a project, or our failure to complete our contractual obligations in a manner consistent with the
project plan upon which our fixed-price, fixed-timeframe contract was based, could adversely affect our
overall profitability and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. We have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete
projects in the past, which has resulted in lower than anticipated profitability or losses on those
contracts, We may experience similar situations in the future. In addition, we may fix the price for
some projects at an early stage of the process, which could result in a fixed price that turns out to be too
low and, therefore, would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our project delivery and industry business unit finance personnel continually review labor hours
incurred and total labor hours, resulting in revisions to the amount of recognized revenue for a contract.
If we do not accurately estimate the resources required or the scope of work to be performed for a
contract or we do not manage the project properly within the planned time period, then we may
recognize a loss on the contract. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on
a contract-by-contract basis and are recognized in the period in which such losses are determined.

All revenue from time-and-materials contracts is recognized as services are provided. In some
instances during 2001 and 2000, we provided services to clients in exchange for equity instruments of

10




the client. We measure the fair value of the equity instrument on the date the parties come to a mutual
understanding of the terms of the arrangement and a commitment for performance by us to earn the
equity instruments is reached, or when the equity is earned, whichever occurs earlier. For the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, $156,000 and $2.1 million, respectively, of equity was received for
services rendered. Earnings recognized in excess of the amounts invoiced to clients are classified as
unbilled revenues. Amounts invoiced to clients in excess of revenue recognized are classified as
deferred revenues.

We recognize revenue for services only in those situations where collection from the client is probable.
Our normal payment terms are 30 days from invoice date. Our project delivery and industry business
unit finance personnel continuously monitor timely payments from our clients and assess any collection
issues. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of our clients to make required payments. We base our estimates on our historical collection and write-
off experience, current trends, credit policy, detailed analysis of specific client situations and percentage
of our accounts receivable by aging category. While such credit losses have historically been within our
expectations and the allowances we established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to
experience the same credit loss rates that we have in the past. If the financial condition of our clients
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payment, additional allowances
may be required. Our failure to accurately estimate the losses for doubtful accounts and ensure that
payments are received on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We also incur “out-of-pocket” expenses which are reimbursable by the client. Through December 31,
2001, these expenses were accounted for as a reduction of the related costs. Effective January 1, 2002,
reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred will be characterized as revenue in our
statement of operations. See page 33 for “New Accounting Pronouncement.”

o Accounting for Income Taxes. We record income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective income tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Our financial statements
contain certain deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of operating losses incurred in
2001, as well as other temporary differences between book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires the establishment of a
valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant manage-
ment judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and
liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. We evaluate the
weight of all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. As a result of operating losses incurred in 2001,
anticipated additional operating losses for the first quarter of 2002 and uncertainty as to the extent and
timing of profitability in future periods, we recorded a full valuation allowance of approximately
$72.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2001. The decision to record the valuation
allowance required significant judgment. Had we not recorded this allowance, we would have reported
materially different results. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more
likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such
determination was made. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable is based on
significant estimates, and it is at least reasonably possible that changes in these estimates in the near
term could materially affect our financial condition and results of operations. Our effective tax rate may
vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income or loss, changes to the
valuation allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into areas with
varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by
jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

o Valuation of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board State-
ment No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
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Disposed of,” the carrying value of intangible assets and other long-lived assets is reviewed on a regular
basis for the existence of facts or circumstances, both internally and externally, that may suggest
impairment. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include:

o significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;
o significant negative industry or economic trends;

o significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and

o our market capitalization relative to net book value.

If such circumstances exist, we evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets to determine if
impairment exists based upon estimated undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining useful life
of the assets and comparing that value to the carrying value of the assets. If the carrying value of the
asset is greater than the estimated future cash flows, the asset is written down to its estimated fair
value. In determining expected future cash flows, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which cash
flows are identifiable and independent of cash flows from other asset groups. To date, no such
impairment has been indicated. Our cash flow estimates contain management’s best estimates, using
appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the time. It is possible that changes in these
estimates in the near term could materially affect our financial condition and results of operations.

o Restructuring and Other Related Charges. We established exit plans for each of the restructuring
activities which took place in March 2001 and July 2001 and accounted for these plans in accordance
with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs incurred in a
Restructuring)”. These exit plans required that we make estimates as to the nature, timing and amount
of the exit costs that we specifically identified. We specifically identified all employees that were to be
terminated and notified them on the date that the action was announced to the public. The
consolidation of facilities required us to make estimates, which included contractual rental commit-
ments or lease buy-outs for office space being vacated and related costs, in addition to future
depreciation of the related leasehold improvements, offset by estimated sub-lease income. We review
on a regular basis our sub-lease assumptions. These estimates include anticipated rates to be charged to
a sub~-tenant and the timing of the sub-lease arrangement. We changed our original estimates in 2001
due to changing real estate markets, which resulted in net additional restructuring charges. If the rental
markets continue to change, our sub-lease assumptions may not be accurate and it is possible that
changes in these estimates could materially affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not party to, any special-purpose or off-balance sheet entities for the
purpose of raising capital, incurring debt or operating parts of our business that are not consolidated into our
financial statements, other than our 50%-owned joint venture in Milan, Italy. See “Equity Investments™ in this
Part II, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on page
15 and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for a more
detailed discussion of this joint venture. We do not have any arrangements or relationships with entities that
are not consolidated into our financial statements that are reasonably likely to materially affect our liquidity or
the availability of our capital resources.

Effect of Certain Transactions
Restructurings

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the
second half of 2000, we announced restructuring plans to reduce our workforce and operations in March 2001
and July 2001. In connection with the restructuring plan announced in March 2001, we recorded a
restructuring charge of approximately $47.3 million, which consisted of severance and related expenses from a
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reduction in our workforce, the consolidation of our office space in certain cities where we had multiple office
locations and other charges related to closing our Sydney, Australia office. The March 2001 restructuring plan
resulted in the termination of approximately 750 employees; 73% of the terminated employees were project
personnel, 4% were selling and marketing personnel and 23% were general and administrative personnel. Due
to declining rental markets, we do not expect to sub-lease certain office space as quickly or at rates as high as
originally anticipated, resulting in additional restructuring charges of $13.2 million for facilities during the
second through fourth quarters of 2001, for a total charge of $60.5 million for this restructuring plan. If the
rental markets continue to change, our sub-lease assumptions may not be accurate resulting in additional
adjustments to the restructuring accrual.

In connection with the further restructuring of our operations announced in July 2001, we recorded a
restructuring charge of approximately $38.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2001, which consisted
of severance and related expenses from a reduction in our workforce, and other costs related to office space
consolidations. The July 2001 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of approximately 501 employees;
76% of the terminated employees were project personnel, 7% were selling and marketing personnel and 17%
were general and administrative personnel. Due to final severance arrangements made to employees
terminated in the fourth quarter of 2001 and additional disposals of fixed assets identified in December 2001,
we recorded an additional restructuring charge of $0.9 million for workforce reductions and a non-cash charge
of $1.2 million for disposals of depreciable assets in the fourth quarter of 2001, for a total charge of
$40.1 million for this restructuring plan.

Acquisitions

We have consummated five acquisitions during the past three years. Four of these acquisitions (TLG,
Human Code, HWT and E.Lab} were accounted for as purchases, and, accordingly, the purchase price for
each acquisition was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair
values. The results of operations for each acquired company are included in our consolidated statement of
operations from the date of acquisition. One of the five acquisitions (Adjacency) was accounted for as a
pooling-of-interests, and, accordingly, our financial statements have been restated for all periods presented to
reflect this acquisition. The following are details for each of these acquisitions:

> On October 25, 2000, we consummated an agreement to acquire The Launch Group Aktiengesell-
schaft (TLG), a provider of strategy and business consulting services in Germany. Upon consumma-
tion, we invested approximately $2.2 million in cash directly into TLG for a 75% ownership position. In
July 2001, we acquired the remaining 25% of TLG in exchange for approximately 671,000 shares of our
common stock. We also issued approximately 1,529,000 shares of our common stock to the former
TLG employees continuing with the Company. These shares are restricted and subject to vesting based
on continued employment with the Company.

» On August 28, 2000, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Human Code, Inc. (Human
Code) in exchange for approximately 1,508,000 shares of our common stock and options to purchase
approximately 471,000 shares of our common stock, and direct acquisition costs of approximately
$1.9 million. In 2001, 150,334 shares were returned to Sapient upon the resolution of a purchase price
claim asserted by us pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement. These shares were valued at
$944,000, the fair value of the shares on the date that the former Human Code sharcholders agreed to
the return of the shares, and were recorded as a reduction to goodwill.

In connection with the acquisition of Human Code, we assumed the outstanding options granted under
the Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. Prior to the acquisition, options to purchase
approximately 2,864,000 shares of Human Code common stock were outstanding at exercise prices
between $0.10 and $3.25 per share. As a result of the acquisition, we assumed the outstanding Human
Code stock options and converted them into options to purchase approximately 471,000 shares of our
common stock at exercise prices between $1.00 and $32.64 per share. The options vest ratably over
periods up to four years. We recorded deferred compensation of $11.2 million related to the intrinsic
value of the unvested options, of which approximately $899,000 has not been amortized as of
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December 31, 2001. Stock-based compensation expense relating to these options was approximately
$2.0 million and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In
connection with the termination of certain Human Code employees to whom the deferred compensa-
tion related, $6.9 million was reversed through additional paid-in-capital during 2001. The remaining
deferred compensation will be charged to operations at the rate of approximately $120,000 per quarter
for the next six quarters, and $179,000 in total thereafter, spread over approximately four quarters. No
further grants may be made pursuant to the Human Code Plan. Previously outstanding options under
the Human Code Plan remain outstanding, and are exercisable for shares of our common stock.

> On June 30, 2000, we invested $2.0 million in HWT, Inc. (HWT, formerly HealthWatch Technolo-
gies, LLC) in connection with a reorganization of HWT. As a result of this investment and
reorganization, our equity ownership of HWT increased to approximately 55%. Prior to the reorganiza-
tion, we had a less than 50%, non-controlling ownership interest in HWT and accounted for this
investment using the equity method of accounting. Cur consolidated statements of operations include
the results of operations of HWT from the date of this additional investment.

= On October 8, 1999, we acquired substantially all of the assets of E.Lab, LLC (E.Lab) in exchange for
176,088 shares of our common stock and the assumption of certain liabilities of E.Lab.

e On March 29, 1999, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Adjacency, Inc. (Adjacency)
in exchange for 3,162,696 shares of our common stock. Costs, which consisted primarily of investment
banking, accounting and legal fees related to the acquisition, approximated $2.3 million and have been
reflected in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 1999. In
connection with the acquisition of Adjacency, we assumed the outstanding options granted under the
Adjacency 1998 Stock Option Plan (the Adjacency Plan). The Adjacency Plan was originally adopted
by Adjacency in 1998 and provided for the grant of stock options for up to an aggregate of 4,000,000
shares of Class B common stock of Adjacency. In November 1998, prior to the acquisition, Adjacency
had granted a total of 437,000 options to its employees at exercise prices between $2.36 and $12.15 per
share. As a result of the acquisition, we assumed options under the Adjacency Plan and converted them
into options to purchase 253,016 shares of our common stock. The shares vested ratably over three
years starting on the date of employment, except for certain employees who were granted accelerated
vesting upon a change-in-control of Adjacency. The total compensation charge to be taken over the
vesting period was approximately $7.2 million, resulting from option grants at below fair market value.
Stock-based compensation expense relating to these options was approximately $247,000, $440,000
and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The deferred
compensation has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. No further grants may be made
pursuant to the Adjacency Plan. Previously outstanding options under the Adjacency Plan remain
outstanding, and are exercisable for shares of our common stock.

Equity Investments

On October 25, 2000, we invested $3.7 million in Dream Incubator, Inc. (DI), a management consulting
company that develops strategies for e-businesses in Japan and acquired a 19% interest. During the year ended
December 31, 2001, our equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from 19% to approximately 17% due to
the sale by DI of shares to new investors at a higher share price than we previously paid. We recorded a
$1.4 million gain as a result of the change in equity interest. Under the terms of our investment agreement
with DI, we have a seat on DI's board of directors, with special voting rights and other privileges, and we
therefore use the equity method of accounting for this investment. On October 25, 2000, DI acquired a 12%
equity interest in Sapient KK, our Japanese subsidiary, for $1.3 million in cash. The excess cash payment of
$347,000 over our carrying value of Sapient KK was recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity, due to
the start up nature of Sapient KK. DI will provide Sapient KK with start up services including strategy,
temporary management, recruiting and other services. Prior to this transaction, we owned 100% of this
subsidiary. DI may put to us up to 50% of their shares in Sapient KX in the aggregate on the second through
fourth anniversary of the agreement for the then fair value. The estimated fair value of the potential put
obligation was not materially different than the original share proceeds as of December 31, 2001. We have
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similar put rights to DI on 50% of our shares in DI in the aggregate. We incurred costs of approximately
$361,000 and $863,000 in start up services provided by DI to Sapient KK for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively, of which approximately $1,500 and $155,000 is included in accounts payable at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In September 1999, we commenced a joint venture, Sapient S.p.A., in Milan, Italy. The joint venture
provides business and technology consulting in Italy. We own 50% of this joint venture and use the equity
method of accounting because we have the ability to significantly influence but not control the joint venture.
We have call option rights to purchase one additional share in January 2002 and January 2003 at a price equal
to its nominal value. We did not exercise our option in January 2002, We also have the option to purchase the
remaining ownership interests in the joint venture in January 2004 and each quarter of 2004 at a price
determined using a formula based on an appraised fair market value and a multiple of projected earnings. We
cannot be sure when, or if, we will exercise these remaining options. During 2001 and 2000, we recognized
approximately $1.6 million and $1.4 million, respectively, in net revenues from consulting services provided to
Sapient S.p.A., in accordance with the joint venture agreement. In addition to recognizing revenue, we
reduced general and administrative expenses by approximately $322,000 and $992,000 for start up and
administrative services billed to the joint venture during 2001 and 2000, respectively. At December 31, 2001
and 2000, we had receivables due from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately $434,000 and $2.4 million,
respectively. ‘

In the future there may be changes to our equity investments and, if gain or loss recognition is
appropriate, the amount will be recognized as non-operating income (loss) in our consolidated statement of
operations.

Related Party Transactions

On January 31, 2000, we entered into a strategic relationship with a client which included, among other
things, our becoming a preferred supplier to that client and its affiliated entities. As part of the relationship,
our co-CEQs and co-chairmen of the Board of Directors each issued a $10.0 million convertible note to the
client. The notes are convertible into shares of our common stock owned by the co-CEQOs and co-chairmen at
a conversion rate equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date the convertible notes were
executed. The client’s ability to convert the notes is subject to certain vesting restrictions, based upon the
client’s ability to achieve certain revenue targets to Sapient within prescribed timeframes. The notes cannot be
converted before May 15, 2002.

Stock Splits

Qur financial statements and all financial information included in this report have been restated for all
periods presented to reflect two-for-one stock splits distributed as 100% stock dividends on August 28, 2000
and November 5, 1999.

Stock Offering

On November 19, 1999, we completed a public offering of 2,229,200 shares of our common stock.
Proceeds to Sapient, net of underwriting discounts and costs of the offering, were approximately $83.3 million.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage of revenues of items included in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations:

Years Ended
December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Reevenue .. . . 100% 100% 100%
Operating expenses:
Project personnel CostS . ... oot e 71 50 48
Selling and marketing costs . . ... ... oo i e 8 7 8
General and administrative COStS .. ... ...t e 40 27 25
Restructuring and other related charges. ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... 31 — —
Amortization of intangible assets ........ ... .. e 9 2 1
Stock-based COMPENSALION . . ...\ u et e 1 — 1
ACQUISIEION COSES ...\t - = _1
Total Operating €XPensSes . . ...ttt e e 160 8 84
Income (loss) from operations ...... ..ottt (60) 14 16
Gain on equity investment change in interest ............ ... i, — — —
Other EXPEISE . .o e e e (H — —
Interest income ... ... ... .. 3 2 2
Income (loss) before income taxes, net equity loss from investees and minority
1001 3 (-1 S (58) 16 18
Income tax provision (benefit) ...... ... .. ... i . 7 1
Income (loss) before net equity loss from investees and minority interest .......... (57) 9 11
Net equity loss from investees. ... .. ... i i i e e e — — —
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated subsidiary .......................... - = =
9% 11%

Net income (108S) .ottt e e e (5%

Years Ended December 31, 20601 and 2000

Revenues

Revenues for 2001 decreased 34% from revenues for 2000. The decrease in our revenues was primarily

attributable to a decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services, including our services, in

the United States. We expect to experience a further decline in our revenues for the quarter ended March 31,

2002, which could continue into future quarters. In 2001, our five largest clients accounted for approximately

23% of our revenues in the aggregate; no client accounted for more than 10% of such revenues and two clients

each accounted for more than 5% of such revenues. In 2000, our five largest clients accounted for

approximately 25% of our revenues in the aggregate; no clients accounted for more than 10% of such revenues
. and two clients each accounted for more than 5% of such revenues.

In November 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Topic Number D-103
regarding “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-Of-Pocket” Expenses
Incurred.” This announcement requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred
should be characterized as revenue in our statement of operations. We incur incidental expenses in the
delivery of services to our clients that are commonly referred to as “out-of-pocket” expenses. These expenses
include, but are not limited to, travel and related charges. Comparative financial statements for prior periods
should be reclassified to comply with the guidance of this staff announcement. The provisions of this
announcement will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and will therefore be
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adopted by us, as required, on January 1, 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
reimbursable expenses, which were accounted for as a reduction of the related costs, amounted to
$15.8 million and $20 million, respectively.

Project Personnel Cosis

Project personnel costs consist principally of salaries and employee benefits for personnel dedicated to
client projects and direct expenses incurred to complete projects that were not reimbursed by the client. These
project personnel costs represent the most significant expense we incur in providing our services. Project
personnel costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 71% in 2001 from 50% in 2000, due to lower billable
utilization of project personnel, higher average compensation and declining bill rates for earned revenue.
Project personnel costs increased as a percentage of revenues from 68% in the first quarter of 2001 to 73% in
the fourth quarter of 2001 for similar reasons. The decrease in total project personnel costs for the year ended
December 31, 2001 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of project personnel from 2,615 at
December 31, 2000 to 1,882 at December 31, 2001. Project personnel costs for the year ended December 31,
2001 decreased 5% from project personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2000. Project personnel
costs for the three months ended December 31, 2001 decreased 38% from project personnel costs for the three
months ended March 31, 2001 and were $46.3 million and $74.4 million, respectively. Project personnel costs
were higher in the early part of the year due to the higher number of project personnel that we employed at the
beginning of the year, which decreased during the year primarily as a result of the restructuring actions.

Selling and Marketing Costs

Selling and marketing costs consist principally of salaries, employee benefits and travel expenses of selling
and marketing personnel and promotional costs. Selling and marketing costs increased as a percentage of
revenues to 8% in 2001 from 7% in 2000. This percentage increase was primarily due to a declining revenue
base. The decrease in selling and marketing costs for the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to
a decrease in the number of selling and marketing personnel from 117 at December 31, 2000 to 92 at
December 31, 2001 due to workforce reductions from our restructuring actions and related decreases in travel
expenses and marketing promotions. In connection with the restructuring plan announced in February 2002
and other cost savings measures, we expect selling and marketing costs to decrease during 2002. If the demand
for our services continues to decline at a faster rate during 2002, however, selling and marketing costs could
continue to increase as a percentage of revenues due to the lower revenue base.

General and Administrative Costs

General and administrative costs relate principally to salaries and employee benefits associated with our
management, finance, recruiting, training and administrative groups, depreciation and occupancy expenses.
General and administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 40% in 2001 from 27% in 2000.
General and administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenue from 36% in the first quarter of 2001 to
44% in the fourth quarter of 2001. This percentage increase was due primarily to fixed personnel, rent and
depreciation costs incurred in anticipation of expected revenue stabilization or growth which did not
materialize and a declining revenue base. The decrease in general and administrative costs for the year ended
December 31, 2001 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of general and administrative personnel,
occupancy costs, and depreciation costs related to our restructuring actions. For the three months ended
December 31, 2001, general and administrative costs decreased 29% from general and administrative costs for
the three months ended March 31, 2001, and were $28.1 million and $39.6 million, respectively. General and
administrative personnel decreased from 628 employees at December 31, 2000 to 453 at December 31, 2001.
Our total headcount decreased from 3,360 at December 31, 2000 to 2,427 at December 31, 2001. Total
occupancy at December 31, 2001 was approximately 701,000 square feet, compared to approximately
1.0 million square feet at December 31, 2000. In connection with our restructuring plan announced in
February 2002, which will reduce our administrative workforce and office space, general and administrative
costs should decrease further during 2002. If the demand for our services continues to decline at a faster rate
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during 2002, however, general and administrative costs could increase as a percentage of revenues due to the
lower revenue base.

Restructuring and Other Related Charges

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the
second half of 2000, we announced restructuring plans to reduce our workforce and operations in March 2001
and July 2001. In connection with the restructuring plan announced in March 2001, we recorded restructuring
and other related charges of $47.3 million, which consisted of $11.9 million for workforce reductions,
$33.3 million for consolidation of facilities, including leasehold improvements and $2.1 million for other
depreciable assets. The March 2001 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of approximately 750
employees, none of whom remained employed by us as of March 31, 2001. 73% of the terminated employees
were project personnel, 4% were selling and marketing personnel and 23% were general and administrative
personnel. The restructuring plan also included closing our Sydney, Australia office and consolidating office
space in other cities where we had multiple office locations. Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities
comprise contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, in addition to future
depreciation of the related leasehold improvements, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction
of office space resulting from these office closings and consolidations was approximately 411,000 square feet,
all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2001. Due to declining rental markets, we do not expect to sub-
lease certain office space as quickly or at rates as high as originally anticipated, resulting in additional
restructuring charges of $13.2 million for facilities during the second through fourth quarters of 2001, for a
total charge of $60.5 million for this restructuring plan.

We realized cost savings from the March 2001 restructuring actions of approximately $58 million in 2001,
and we expect cost savings of $60 to $65 million on an annualized basis, of which approximately 60% relates to
project personnel costs, 3% relates to selling and marketing costs and 37% relates to general and administrative
costs, including facilities and depreciation.

In connection with a further restructuring of our operations announced in July 2001, we recorded
restructuring and other related charges of $38.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2001, which
consisted of $11.7 million for workforce reductions, $23.5 million for consolidation of facilities and
$2.8 million for other depreciable assets. We reduced our headcount by approximately 390 employees,
principally in North America. We also announced the cessation of the game development business we
acquired from Human Code, which resulted in an additional headcount reduction of 111 employees. In total,
the July 2001 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of approximately 501 employees, none of whom
remained employed with us as of December 31, 200i. 76% of the terminated employees were project
personnel, 7% were selling and marketing personnel and 17% were general and administrative personnel. The
restructuring plan included consolidating office space in cities where we had multiple office locations.
Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities comprise contractual rental commitments for office space
being vacated and related costs, in addition to future depreciation of the related leasehold improvements,
offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space resulting from these office closings
and consolidations was approximately 228,000 square feet, all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2001.
Due to final severance arrangements made to employees terminated in the fourth quarter of 2001 and
additional disposals of fixed assets identified in December 2001, we recorded additional restructuring charges
of $0.9 million for workforce reductions and a non-cash charge of $1.2 million for disposals of depreciable
assets in the fourth quarter of 2001, for a total charge of $40.1 million for this restructuring plan.

We realized cost savings from the July 2001 restructuring actions of approximately $27 million in 2001,
and we expect cost savings of $56 million on an annualized basis, of which approximately 60% relates to
project personnel costs, 6% relates to selling and marketing costs and 34% relates to general and administrative
costs, including facilities and depreciation.

These restructuring charges and accruals required certain significant estimates and assumptions,
including sub-lease income. These estimates and assumptions will be monitored on a quarterly basis for
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changes in circumstances. It is reasonably possible that such estimates could change in the near term resulting
in additional charges and the effect could be material.

Charges for restructuring and other related activities as of, and for the year ended, December 31, 2001
were as follows (in thousands):

Original  Additional Utilized Balance
Charge Charge Adjustments  Nor-Cash Cash 12/31/01
Workforce .. ......... .. ... ... $11,948 $11,691 § 852 $ (67) $(22,789) $ 1,633
Facilities .......................... 33,285 23,549 13,217 (6,470)  (11,876) 51,705
Depreciable assets .................. 2,109 2,769 1,220 (6,098) — —
$47,342  $38,009 $15,289 $(12,635) $(34,665) $53,340
.Current accrued restructuring costs . . . . 17,829
Non-current accrued restructuring costs $35,511

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets consists primarily of amortization of marketing assets, customer lists,
assembled workforce and other employee items, developed technology and goodwill resulting from our
acquisitions. The increase in amortization of intangible assets costs for 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily
related to a full year of amortization in 2001 for the Human Code, HWT and TLG acquisitions, compared to a
partial year of amortization in 2000 related to these acquisitions. Amortization periods range from three to
seven years. Amortization of intangible assets increased as a percentage of revenues from 2% for the year
ended December 31, 2000 to 9% for the year ended December 31, 2001, and was primarily due to the Human
Code acquisition, which occurred on August 28, 2000, and a declining revenue base. '

Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets ” became
effective in 2002 and as a result, we will cease to amortize approximately $101.8 million of goodwill upon
adoption by us on January 01, 2002. We recorded approximately $18.9 million of amortization of goodwill
during 2001 and would have recorded approximately $18.6 million of amortization during 2002 related to
goodwill as of December 31, 2001. In lieu of amortization, we are required to perform an initial impairment
review of our goodwill in 2002 and an annual impairment review thereafter. We are currently preparing the
analysis necessary to test impairment under the new accounting pronouncement. If an impairment is identified
we will record an impairment change in 2002, and the change could be material.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation consists of expenses for deferred compensation associated with the Human
Code, TLG and Adjacency acquisitions. The increase in stock-based compensation costs for 2001 compared to
2000 was primarily related to a full year of amortization of deferred compensation in 2001 for the Human
Code and TLG acquisitions, compared to a partial year of amortization in 2000. In connection with the
acquisition of Human Code, we assumed the outstanding options granted under the Human Code 1994 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan. The options vest ratably over periods up to four years. We recorded deferred
compensation of $11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the unvested options, of which approximately
$899,000 has not been amortized as of December 31, 2001. In connection with the termination of certain
Human Code employees to whom the deferred compensation related, $6.9 million was reversed through
additional paid-in-capital during 2001. The remaining deferred compensation will be charged to operations at
the rate of approximately $120,000 per quarter for the next six quarters, and $179,000 in total thereafter,
spread over approximately four quarters.

In connection with the TLG acquisition, in July 2001 we issued $10.0 million of restricted common stock
to the former TLG employees continuing with the Company, which we began to amortize over the vesting
period of 4.75 years commencing on the date of acquisition. We expect this charge to be approximately
$527,000 per quarter for the next fourteen quarters, or $2.1 million annually.
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Prior to our acquisition of Adjacency in March 1999, Adjacency granted stock options at below fair
market value. The options were granted in November of 1998 with a three-year vesting schedule commencing
on the date of employment. The deferred compensation has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001.

Gain on Equity Investment Change in Interest

We include gains and losses on changes in our interest in our subsidiaries and equity method investees in
net income. If the change in interest is a gain and the subsidiary or equity method investee is a research and
development, start-up or development stage company or an entity whose viability as a going-concern is under
consideration, we account for the change in interest as a component of stockholders’ equity. During the year
ended December 31, 2001, our equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from 19% to approximately
17%. The dilution was due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors, which occurred at a higher share price
than we previcusly paid. We recorded a $1.4 million gain as a result of the change in equity interest.

Other Expense

We classify all cost method equity investments of publicly traded companies as available-for-sale.
Available-for-sale investments are reported at fair value as of each balance sheet date. Fair value is
determined based on market quotations. Investments in equity securities for which fair value is not readily
determinable are carried at cost. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in the value of the
investment below cost, we consider available evidence, including the duration and extent to which the market
value has been less than cost, to evaluate the extent to which the decline is “other than temporary”. If the
decline is considered other than temporary, the cost basis of the investment is written down to fair value as a
new cost basis and the amount of the writedown is included in our consolidated statement of operations. In
2001 and 2000, we recorded charges of $4.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively, to write-down certain
investments we made in certain businesses because we considered the decline in the value of these investments
to be other than temporary.

Interest Income

Interest income for 2001 and 2000 was derived primarily from investment of the proceeds from our public
stock offerings and cash provided by operations, which were invested primarily in tax-exempt, short-term
municipal bonds, commercial paper and U.S. government securities. The decrease in interest income for the
year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to the decrease in the average cash and investment balances
and lower interest rates.

(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes

We have deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of operating losses incurred in 2001,
as well as other temporary differences between book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to
reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant management judgment is required in
determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance
recorded against our net deferred tax assets. For the three months ended March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001,
we recorded an income tax benefit. At that time, it was determined that the ultimate realization of deferred
tax assets for federal and state income tax purposes was considered more likely than not, due to taxable
income in the federal carryback period and anticipated sufficient future taxable income. As a result of
operating losses incurred in 2001, anticipated additional operating losses for the first quarter of 2002 and
uncertainty as to the extent and timing of profitability in future periods, we recorded a full valuation allowance
of approximately $72.6 million on our deferred tax assets during the third and fourth quarter of 2001. If the
realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred
tax assets would increase income in the period such determination is made. We recorded a net income tax
benefit of $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, which relates primarily to a tax benefit for net
operating loss carrybacks, reversals of temporary differences between book and tax accounting and foreign tax
liabilities. Our effective tax rate may vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income
or loss, changes to the valuation allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into
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areas with varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by
jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

Due to the enactment of “The Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002 on March 9, 2002, we
will be able to carryback our 2001 tax net operating loss for U.S. federal purposes to all previous tax years to
1996. Including the $13.6 million income tax receivable included in our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2001, we estimate that we will recover in 2002 approximately $32 million of taxes paid in prior
years.

Net Equity Loss from Investees

We use the equity method of accounting for investments when we have an ownership interest of 20% to
50% or the ability to exercise significant influence over an investee’s operating activities. Net equity loss from
investees for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was approximately $499,000 and $878,000,
respectively. This consisted of net losses from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately $296,000 and from DI of
approximately $203,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001 and net losses from Sapient S.p.A. of
approximately $918,000, offset by equity in net income from DI of approximately $40,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2000.

Minority Interest

Minority interest income for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was approximately $464,000
and $95,000, respectively, related to DI's 12% interest in our Japanese subsidiary’s losses. DI acquired this
interest in October 2000.

Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999
Revenues

Revenues for 2000 increased 82% over revenues for 1999. The increase in revenues was attributable to an
increase in the number and average size of client projects and billing rate increases. In 2000, our five largest
clients accounted for approximately 25% of our revenues in the aggregate; no client accounted for more than
10% of such revenues and two clients each accounted for more than 5% of such revenues. In 1999, our five
largest clients accounted for approximately 22% of our revenues in the aggregate; no clients accounted for
more than 10% of such revenues and one client accounted for more than 5% of such revenues.

Project Personnel Costs

Project personnel costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 50% in 2000 from 48% in 1999, due to
lower billable utilization of project personnel. Project personnel costs increased as a percentage of revenues
from 48% in the first quarter of 2000 to 52% in the fourth quarter of 2000. This was due primarily to a decline
in revenue growth in the fourth quarter of 2000 resulting in lower employee utilization. The increase in project
personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2000 was primarily due to an increase in the number of
project personnel from 1,666 at December 31, 1999 to 2,615 at December 31, 2000 and to higher
compensation for project personnel.

Selling and Marketing Costs

Selling and marketing costs decreased as a percentage of revenues to 7% in 2000 from 8% in 1999. The
higher percentage in 1999 was primarily due to investments that we made in a new brand identity during 1999
and also due to an advertising campaign launched in the third quarter of 1999. Selling and marketing
personnel grew from 82 employees at December 31, 1999 to 117 employees at December 31, 2000.

General and Administrative Costs

General and administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 27% in 2000 from 25% in 1999,
due primarily to increases in general and administrative personnel and occupancy expenses. General and
administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenues from 25% in the first quarter of 2000 to 28% in the
fourth quarter of 2000, and was due primarily to developing support for expected revenue growth which did not
materialize. The increase in general and administrative costs for 2000 compared to 1999 was primarily due to
an increase in the number of employees hired during 2000, an increase in occupancy expenses related to

21




significant expansion of our office space and increased depreciation costs related to our increased investments
in property and equipment. General and administrative personnel grew from 363 employees at December 31,
1999 to 628 employees at December 31, 2000. Our total headcount increased from 2,111 at December 31,
1999 to 3,360 at December 31, 2000. Total occupancy at December 31, 2000 was approximately 1.0 million
square feet, compared to approximately 613,000 square feet at December 31, 1999.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

The increase in amortization of intangible assets costs for 2000 compared to 1999 was primarily related to
the Human Code, HWT and TLG acquisitions. Amortization periods range from three to seven years.
Amortization of intangible assets increased as a percentage of revenues from 1% in the first quarter of 2000 to
5% in the fourth quarter of 2000, and was primarily due to the Human Code acquisition, which occurred on
August 28, 2000.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation consists of expenses for deferred compensation associated with the Human
Code, TLG and Adjacency acquisitions. In connection with the acquisition of Human Code, we assumed the
outstanding options granted under the Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. The options
vest ratably over periods up to four years. We recorded deferred compensation of $11.2 million related to the
intrinsic value of the unvested options, of which $9.8 million has not been amortized as of December 31, 2000.

In connection with the TLG acquisition, at December 31, 2000, we were committed to issue $10.0 million
of restricted Sapient common stock. We began to amortize the $10.0 million of restricted stock over the
vesting period of 4.75 years commencing on the date of acquisition.

Prior to our acquisition of Adjacency in March 1999, Adjacency granted stock options at below fair
market value. The options were granted in November of 1998 with a three-year vesting schedule commencing
on the date of employment. A charge of approximately $1.7 million in the first quarter of 1999 was the result
of change-in-control provisions.

Acquisition Costs

We incurred a charge of approximately $2.3 million in 1999 for costs associated with the Adjacency
acquisition, which consisted primarily of investment banking, accounting and legal fees.

Other Expense

In 2000, we recorded $1.3 million in charges to write-down certain investments we made in certain
businesses, because we considered the decline in the value of these investments to be other than temporary.

Interest Income

Interést income for 2000 and 1999 was derived primarily from investment of the proceeds from our public
stock offerings, which proceeds were invested primarily in tax-exempt, short-term municipal bonds, commer-
cial paper and U.S. government securities. The increase in interest income for the year ended December 31,
2000 was primarily due to the investment of the proceeds from the follow-on public offering of our commeon
stock in November 1999.

Provision for Income Taxes

Income tax expense represented combined federal and state income taxes at an effective rate of 42% for
2000 and 38% for 1999. The increase in the effective tax rate was due primarily to the non-deductible
amortization expenses related to the Human Code acquisition and to expansion into countries and states with
higher tax rates.

Equity in Net Loss from Unconsolidated Affiliates

Equity in net loss from unconsolidated affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 was
approximately $878,000 and $157,000, respectively. In October 2000, we acquired a 19% non-controlling
equity interest in DI, a Japanese company. In September 1999, we commenced a joint venture, Sapient
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S.p.A., in Milan, Italy, in which we have a 50% non-controlling interest. We use the equity method of
accounting for these investments. The increase in the equity in net loss from unconsolidated affiliates was due
to a full year of operations for Sapient S.p.A., for which our share of their losses totaled approximately
$918,000, as compared to a partial year of operations in 1999, offset by equity in net income from DI of
approximately $40,000.

Minority Interest

Minority interest for the year ended December 31, 2000 was approximately $95,000, related to the 12%
interest in our Japanese subsidiary acquired by DI in October 2000.

Quarterly Fimancial Resuits

The following tables set forth a summary of our unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2001 and
2000. In the opinion of management, this information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements and all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the quarterly information when
read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere
in this Annual Report. The quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of future results of
operations.

Three Months Ended (Unaudited)
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2001 2001 2001 2001
. (In thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES. . oot e e $109,141 $ 87,286 $ 69,980 $ 63,291
Operating expenses: .

Project personnel costs .............. L 74,409 63,578 51,510 46,269

Selling and marketing costs .................... 7,516 8,377 5,948 6,108

General and administrative costs .. .............. 39,618 34,641 29,352 28,118

Restructuring and other related charges .......... 47,342 3,470 42,608 7,220

Amortization of intangible assets................ 6,593 6,593 7,504 7,436

Stock-based compensation ..................... 1,501 1,309 939 700

Total operating €Xpenses ... ........c.ccueu... 176,979 117,968 137,861 95,851

Loss from operations . ...t (67,838)  (30,682) (67,881) (32,560)
Gain on equity investment change in interest........ 1,407 — — —
Other (expense) iNCOME . ... .....oviviiiennen... (2,357) (2,339) (131) 150
Interest inCOME .. ..ottt e e 3,022 2,674 2,315 1,396
Loss before income taxes, net equity loss from

investees and minority interest . ................. (65,766)  (30,347) (65,697) (31,014)
Income tax provision (benefit).................... (17,622)  (13,134) 29,030 (1,365)
Loss before net equity loss from investees and

minority inferest . . ...t (48,144)  (17,213) (94,727) (29,649)
Net equity loss from investees .................... (110) (241) (113) (35)
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated

subsidiary ........ ... 1 84 189 190
Net 1088, o oo $(48,253) $(17,370)  $(94,651) $(29,494)
Basic net loss pershare............ ... .. ....... $ (039) $ (0.14) $ (0.76) $ (0.23)
Diluted net loss pershare ........................ $ (039 $ (0.14) § (0.76) $ (0.23)




Three Months Ended (Unaudited)
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2009 2000 2000 2000
(In thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES . .. ottt i e $100,334 $125,769 $138,057 $139,179
Operating expenses:

Project personnel costs ............ ... oo 48,575 60,321 68,183 72,200

Selling and marketing costs .................... 7,885 7,769 7,986 10,263

General and administrative costs ................ 25,253 33,753 38,132 38,286

Amortization of intangible assets . ............... 884 757 2,935 6,752

Stock-based compensation ..................... 110 110 454 1,491

Total operating expenses . . ................... 82,707 102,710 117,690 128,992

Income from operations ............... ... ... ... 17,627 23,059 20,367 10,187
Other eXpense .. ...ttt — — —_ (1,250)
Interest iINCOME . . ..ottt e e 2,473 2,768 3,248 3,189
Income before income taxes, net equity loss from

investees and minority interest . ................. 20,100 25,827 23,615 12,126
Income tax provision ...........oiiiiiiiaa 7,857 10,589 11,536 3,943
Income before net equity loss from investee and

minority interest. . ... ... il 12,243 15,238 12,079 8,183
Net equity loss from investee . .................... (353) (276) (93) (156)
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated subsidiary — — — 95
Net INCome . ..ot e $ 11,890 $ 14,962 $ 11,986 $ 8,122
Basic net income pershare............. ... ...... $ 010 $ 0.13 $ 010 $ 0.07
Diluted net income per share . .................... $§ 009 $ o0.11 $§ 0.09 $ 0.06
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Revenues............ DU P

Operating expenses:
Project personnel costs
Selling and marketing costs
General and administrative costs
Restructuring and other related charges
Amortization of intangible assets . ...............
Stock-based compensation

Total operating exXpenses .. ...........c....o....

Loss from operations
Gain on equity investment change in interest........
Other expense

Interest income

Loss before income taxes, net equity loss from
investees and minority interest

Income tax provision (benefit)....................

Loss before net equity loss from investees and
mMinority Interest. .. ...t
Net equity loss from investees
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated subsidiary
Net 1055 .o

Revenues....... ... ..o i

Operating expenses:
Project personnel costs
Selling and marketing costs
General and administrative costs
Amortization of intangible assets . ...............
Stock-based compensation

Total operating expenses ... ..................

Income from operations
Other expense
Interest income

Income before income taxes, net equity loss from
investees and minority interest

Income tax provision ............. .. ... ...

Income before net equity loss from investees and
minority interest. .. ...,

Net equity loss from investees
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated subsidiary
Netincome..........oi i,

As a Percentage of Total Revenues
Three Months Ended (Unaudited)

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2001 2001 2001 2001

100% 100% 100% 100%

68 73 74 73

7 10 8 10

36 40 42 44

44 4 61 11

6 7 11 12

1 1 1 1

162 135 197 151
(62) (35) (97) (51)

1 — — _—

(2) (3) — —

3 3 3 2
(60) (35) (94) (49)
(16) (15) 41 (2)
(44) (20) (135) (47)

(44)% (20)% (135)% (47)%
As a Percentage of Total Revenues
Three Months Ended (Unaudited)
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2000 2000 2000 2000

100% 100% 100% 100%

48 48 49 52

8 6 6 7

25 27 28 28

1 1 2 5

— — — 1

82 82 85 93

18 18 15 7

2 2 2 2

20 20 17 9

8 8 8 3

12 12 9 6

12% 12% 9% 6%




Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have primarily funded our operations from cash flows generated from operations and the proceeds
from our public stock offerings. In addition, we have a bank revolving line of credit providing for borrowings of
up to $5.0 million. Borrowings under this line of credit, which expires on August 30, 2002, bear interest at the
bank’s prime rate. The line of credit includes covenants relating to the maintenance of certain financial ratios
and limits the payment of dividends. We were in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2001. At
December 31, 2001 and at all times throughout 2001, we had no bank borrowings outstanding. Letters of
credit of $3.7 million were outstanding under the agreement and were issued as security deposits for certain of
our lease commitments. There were no material capital commitments at December 31, 2001. The following
summarizes our contractual obligations of non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2001:

(In thousands)

200 . $18,837
2003 L e 18,679
2004 L 14,184
2005 . e 8,444
2006 .. 7,534
T3 (<21 (=2 G PP 29,536

We invest predominantly in instruments that are highly liquid, investment grade securities. At Decem-
ber 31, 2001, we had approximately $244.5 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
compared to $280.6 million at December 31, 2000.

Cash used in operating activities was $33.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This resulted
primarily from a net loss of $189.8 million, decreases in accrued compensation of $16.2 million, deferred
revenues on contracts of $3.5 million and increases in unbilled revenues on contracts of $4.1 million, offset by
net non-cash charges of $66.5 million such as depreciation and amortization, deferred income taxes, loss
recognized on write-down of investments and stock-based compensation, non-cash restructuring charges of
$20.0 million, increases in accrued restructuring costs of $44.9 million, decreases in accounts receivable of
$38.3 million, decreases in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $6.0 million and increases in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $4.9 million. Overall, the change was primarily due to the significant decline
in demand for advanced technology services in 2001, which resulted in a net loss. Our days sales outstanding
for accounts receivable has decreased from 47 days for the year ended December 31, 2000 to 43 days for the
year ended December 31, 2001 due to increased management focus.

Cash provided by investing activities was $29.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This was
due primarily to sales and maturities of short-term investments (net of purchases) of $48.6 million, offset by
capital expenditures of $18.2 million for expansion of our foreign office locations and investments in and
advances to affiliates of $1.0 million.

Cash provided by financing activities was $17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, as a result
of cash provided from the sale of common stock through our employee stock purchase plan and the exercise of
stock options of $17.5 million, offset by the repurchase of our common stock of $422,000 under a stock
repurchase program announced in September 2001. Under this program, we may repurchase up to
$25.0 million of our common stock over a one-year period. Any purchases under our stock repurchase program
may be made from time-to-time, in the open market, through block trades or otherwise.

The total cash outlay for the restructuring and other related activities announced in March 2001 is
expected to be approximately $53 million. The remaining $7.5 million of restructuring and other related costs
consists of non-cash charges primarily for asset write-offs and leasehold improvements for facilities being
vacated. As of December 31, 2001, $20.9 million of cash had been expended for this initiative, of which
approximately $1.0 million was expended for lease termination payments. An additional $7.9 million cash
outlay is expected during the year ended December 31, 2002, and the remaining cash outlay of approximately
$24.2 million, primarily related to real estate rental obligations, is expected to occur over the next ten years.
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The total cash outlay for the restructuring and other related activities announced in July 2001 is expected
to be approximately $27.6 million. The remaining $12.5 million of restructuring and other related costs
consists of non-cash charges primarily for asset write-offs and leasehold improvements for facilities being
vacated. As of December 31, 2001, $12.9 million of cash had been expended for this initiative, of which
approximately $592,000 was expended for lease termination payments. An additional $8.1 million cash outlay
is expected during the year ended December 31, 2002, and the remaining cash outlay of approximately
$6.6 million, primarily related to real estate rental obligations, is expected to occur over the next ten years.

Due to the enactment of “The Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002” on March 9, 2002, we
will be able to carryback our 2001 tax net operating loss for U.S. federal purposes to all previous tax years to
1996. Including the $13.6 million income tax receivable included in our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2001, we estimate that we will recover in 2002 approximately $32 million of taxes paid in prior
years.

As a result of the actions taken in February 2002, we have estimated that we will spend approximately
$45 to $50 million in cash for restructuring and other related activities in the year ended December 31, 2002
and beyond.

We believe that existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and borrowings available
under our revolving line of credit will be sufficient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure,
restructuring, and stock repurchase program requirements for at least the next 18 months.

Risk Factors

The following important factors, among others, could cause our actual business and financial results to
differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report or presented
elsewhere by management from time to time.

Our market and the demand for business and technology consulting services have changed rapidly

The market for our consulting services and the technologies used in our solutions have changed rapidly
over the last three years, and we expect this rate of change to continue. The market for advanced technology
consulting services expanded dramatically during 1999 and most of 2000, but both shifted and declined
significantly in 2001 and to date in 2002. These market changes have required us to shift the focus of our
services, from design and implementation of Internet solutions to other strategic technology initiatives, and
have also affected our financial results. Qur revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001 decreased 34%
from our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000, and our net income declined from $47.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000 to a net loss of $189.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Cur
quarterly revenues declined sequentially throughout the year, with our revenues for the three month periods
ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2001 decreasing 22%, 20%, 20% and 10%,
respectively, from each of the previous quarters. We expect to experience a further decline in our revenues,
with flat or declining operating results, for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, which could continue into future
quarters. If we cannot successfully adapt to these changes in our marketplace, our business, financial condition
and results of operations will suffer.

Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to develop service offerings that keep pace with
rapid and continuing changes in technology, evolving industry needs and changing client preferences. Our
future success will also depend on our ability to develop and implement ideas that successfully apply existing
and new technologies to deliver explicit business outcomes to our clients. We may not be successful in
addressing these developments on a timely basis or in selling our services in the marketplace.

QOur clients may continue to cancel or delay spending on technology initiatives because of the current
econcmic climate

Since the second half of 2000, many companies have experienced financial difficulties or uncertainty, and
canceled or delayed spending on technology initiatives as a result. This trend has continued and, for some
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clients, worsened since the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States. Furthermore, the severe
financial difficulties which many start-up Internet companies have experienced has further reduced the
perceived urgency by larger companies to begin or continue technology initiatives. If large companies continue
to cancel or delay their business and technology consulting initiatives because of the current economic climate,
or for other reasons, our business, financial condition and results of operations will continue to be materially
adversely affected.

Our market is highly competitive and we may not be able to continue to compete effectively

The business and technology consulting market in which we operate includes a large number of
companies and is highly competitive. Our primary competitors are large accounting and consulting firms and
systems consulting and implementation firms. We compete to a lesser extent with specialized e-business
consulting firms, offshore outsourcing companies, strategy consulting firms, other packaged technology
vendors and internal information systems groups. We compete frequently for client engagements against
companies with far larger revenues and numbers of consultants than we have. These competitors are often able
to offer greater scale and breadth of products and services, which in some instances has enabled them to
significantly discount their services in exchange for revenues in other areas or at later dates. If we cannot keep
pace with the intense competition in our marketplace, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will suffer.

Businesses may decrease or delay their use of advanced technologies as a means for conducting
commerce

Cur future success depends heavily on the increased acceptance and use of advanced technologies as a
means for conducting commerce and streamlining operations. We focus our services on the development and
implementation of advanced technology strategies and solutions. If use of these advanced technologies does
not continue to grow, or grows more slowly than expected, our revenue could be less than we anticipate and
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Consumers
and businesses may delay adoption of advanced technologies for a number of reasons, including:

« inability to implement and sustain profitable business models using advanced technologies;
 inadequate network infrastructure or bandwidth;

+ delays in the development or adoption of new technical standards and protocols required to handle
increased levels of usage;

o delays in the development of security and authentication technology necessary to effect secure
transmission of confidential information; and

» failure of companies to meet their customers’ expectations in delivering goods and services using
advanced technologies.
Our growing international operations and global distributed delivery model subject us to increased risk

We currently have offices in the United Kingdom, Germany, India, Japan and Canada and we have a
joint venture in Italy. Our international operations are growing as a percentage of our total operations, and our
global distributed delivery model is a key component of our ability to successfully deliver our services.
International operations are subject to inherent risks, including:

» economic recessions in foreign countries;

+ fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

¢ costs and management of staffing multi-national operations;

» reduced protection for intellectual property in some countries;

« political instability or changes in regulatory requirements; and
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« U.S. imposed restrictions on the import and export of technologies.

In particular, our global distributed delivery model depends heavily on our office in New Delhi, India.

Any escalation in the political or military instability in India, Pakistan or the surrounding countries could

hinder our ability to successfully utilize global distributed delivery, and could result in material adverse effects

to our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, the delivery of our services from

remote locations causes us to rely on data, phone, power and other networks which are not as reliable as those

. in other countries where we operate. Any failures of these systems could affect the success of our global

distributed delivery model. Remote delivery of our services also increases the complexity and risk of delivering

our services, which could affect our ability to satisfy our clients’ expectations or perform our services within
the estimated timeframe and budget for each project.

We have significant fixed operating cests, which may be difficult to adjust in response to unanticipated
fluctuations in revenues

A high percentage of our operating expenses, particularly personnel, rent and depreciation, are fixed in
advance of any particular quarter. As a result, an unanticipated decrease in the number or average size of, or
an unanticipated delay in the scheduling for, our projects may cause significant variations in operating results
in any particular quarter and could have a material adverse effect on operations for that quarter.

An unanticipated termination or decrease in size or scope of a major project, a client’s decision not to
proceed with a project we anticipated or the completion during a quarter of several major client projects could
require us to maintain underutilized employees and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Our revenues and earnings may also fluctuate from quarter to
quarter because of such factors as:

= the contractual terms and timing of completion of projects;

= any delays incurred in connection with projects;

= the adequacy of provisions for losses and bad debts;

e the accuracy of our estimates of resources required to complete ongoing projects;
« loss of key highly-skilled personnel necessary to complete projects; and

¢ general economic conditions.

We may lose money if we do net accurately estimate the costs of fixed-price engagements

Most 'of our projects are based on fixed-price, fixed-timeframe contracts, rather than contracts in which
payment to us is determined on a time and materials basis. Our failure to accurately estimate the resources
required for a project, or our failure to complete our contractual obligations in a manner consistent with the
project plan upon which our fixed-price, fixed-timeframe contract was based, could adversely affect our overall
profitability and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. We have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects in the
past, which has resulted in josses on those contracts. We will likely experience similar situations in the future.
In addition, we may fix the price for some projects at an early stage of the process, which could result in a fixed
price that turns out to be too low and, therefore, would adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We depend heavily on a limited number of clients

We have derived, and believe that we will continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues from a
limited number of clients for which we perform large projects. In 2001, our five largest clients accounted for
approximately 23% of our revenues in the aggregate, with two clients each accounting for more than 5% of our
revenues. In addition, revenues from a large client may constitute a significant portion of our total revenues in
any particular quarter. As a result, we are dependent upon winning new projects from new or existing clients to
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replace completed projects. The loss of any principal client for any reason or the inability to replace existing
projects, including as a result of the acquisition of that client by another entity, our failure to meet that client’s
expectations, or that client’s decision to reduce spending on technology-related projects, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our clients could unexpectediy terminate their contracts for our services

Some of our contracts can be canceled by the client with limited advance notice and without significant
penalty. Termination by any client of a contract for our services could result in a loss of expected revenues and
additional expenses for staff which were allocated to that client’s project. We could be required to maintain
underutilized employees who were assigned to the terminated contract. The unexpected cancellation or
significant reduction in the scope of any of our large projects could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not attract and retain qualified professional staff, we may not be able to adequately perform eur
client engagements and could be limited in accepting mew client engagements

Qur business is labor intensive, and our success depends upon our ability to attract, retain, train and
motivate highly skilled employees. Although many specialized e-business and other business and technology
companies have reduced their work forces or slowed their hiring efforts, and although we reduced our work
force in March 2001, July 2001 and February 2002, intense competition still exists for certain employees who
have specialized skills or significant experience in business and technology consulting. We may not be
successful in attracting a sufficient number of these highly skilled employees in the future. Furthermore, the
industry turnover rates for these types of employees is high, and we may not be successful in retaining, training
and motivating the employees we are able to attract. Any inability to attract, retain, train and motivate
employees could impair our ability to adequately manage and complete existing projects and to bid for or
accept new client engagements. Almost all of our employees participate in one or more of our stock option
plans as a component of long-term incentive compensation, and many of the stock options held by current
employees have exercise prices that exceed the recent trading range of our common stock. A future prolonged
decline or low stock price could result in reduced incentives for employees and in increased turnover.

We may not be successful in managing the levels of our workferce and our other resources

Since December 31, 2000, we have experienced significant declines in our revenues and subsequently
reduced our workforce and other resources. Our workforce decreased from 3,360 full-time employees at
December 31, 2000 to 2,427 at December 31, 2001, primarily due to reductions in our workforce in March and
July 2001. In February 2002, we announced a plan to further reduce our workforce by 545 employees to
address the continued decline in our revenues, and we will be reducing our office space in each of our office
locations in the United States.

We must devote substantial managerial and financial resources to monitoring and managing our
workforce and other resources. Despite our recent restructurings, we have made, and will likely continue to
make, significant expenditures to grow our business in certain areas, including our global distributed delivery
model. We also may be required to expend substantial managerial and financial resources in identifying and
addressing those areas of our business which are not in sufficient demand by our clients. Our future success
will depend on our ability to manage the levels and related costs of our workforce and other resources
effectively. If we are unable to do so, the quality of our services and products, our ability to retain key
personnel and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
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Qur stock price is volatile and may result in substantial losses for investors

The trading price of our common stock has been subject to wide fluctuations. Our trading price could
continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to:

 quarterly variations in operating results and our achievement of key business metrics;
> changes in operating results estimates by securities analysts,;
» announcements of unexpected operating results or estimates made by us or our competitors;

o any differences between our reported results and securities analysts’ published or unpublished
expectations; :

= announcements of new contracts or service offerings made by us or our competitors;
e announcements of acquisitions or joint ventures made by us or our competitors; and
e general economic or stock market conditions.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods
of volatility in the market price of their securities. The commencement of this type of litigation against us
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management attention and resources.

Government regulation could interfere with the acceptance of nmew technologies

Any new laws and regulations applicable to new technologies and electronic commerce that are adopted
by federal, state or international governments could dampen the growth of new technologies, and decrease
their acceptance as commercial media. If this occurs, a significant number of companies may decide not to
pursue technology initiatives, which could decrease demand for our services and have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to achieve anticipated benefits from acquisitions and joint ventures

During the last three years, we have completed five acquisitions and entered into one joint venture. The
anticipated benefits from these and potential future acquisitions and joint ventures may not be achieved. For
example, when we acquire a company, we cannot be certain that clients of the acquired business will continue
to do business with us or that employees of the acquired business will continue their employment or become
well integrated into our operations and culture. The identification, consummation and integration of
acquisitions and joint ventures require substantial attention from management. The diversion of management’s
attention, as well as any difficulties encountered in the integration process, could have an adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to protect our proprietary methodology

Our success depends, in part, upon our proprietary methodology and other intellectual property rights.
We rely upon a combination of trade secrets, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and copyright
and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. We enter into confidentiality agreements with our
employees, consultants and clients, and limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information. We
cannot be certain that the steps we take in this regard will be adequate to deter misappropriation of our
proprietary information or that we will be able to detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to enforce
our intellectual property rights. In addition, although we believe that our services and products do not infringe
on the intellectual property rights of others, infringement claims may be asserted against us in the future, and,
if asserted, these claims may be successful. A successful claim against us could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our co-Chairmen and co-CEQs have significant voting power and may effectively contro! the cutcome of
any stockholder vote

Jerry A. Greenberg and J. Stuart Moore, our co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors and co-Chief
Executive Officers, together own approximately 32.8% of our common stock. As a result, they have the ability
to substantially influence, and may effectively control the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder
approval, including the election of directors. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change in control of Sapient, even if such a change in control would benefit other
investors.

We are dependent on our key employees

QCur success will depend in large part upon the continued services of a number of key employees,
including Messrs. Greenberg and Moore. Our employment arrangements with Messrs. Greenberg and Moore
and with our other key personnel provide that employment is terminable at will by either party. The loss of the
services of either of Messrs. Greenberg or Moore, or of the services of one or more of our other key employees,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition,
if one or more of our key employees resign from Sapient to join a competitor or to form a competing company,
the loss of such personnel and any resulting loss of existing or potential clients to any such competitor could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, in the
event of the loss of any key employees, we may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our
technical knowledge, practices or procedures by such employees. Although we require our employees to sign
agreements requiring them to keep company information confidential and prohibiting them from joining a
competitor, forming a competing company or soliciting our clients or employees for certain periods of time, we
cannot be certain that these agreements will be effective in preventing our key employees from engaging in
such actions or that these agreements will be substantially enforced by courts or other adjudicative entities.
Furthermore, for those employees whom we involuntarily terminated in connection with our restructurings in
March 2001, July 2001 and February 2002, we have waived the non-competition clause of their agreements in
exchange for other releases by these former employees. We granted these waivers only in connection with the
restructuring actions, and our general practice is not to waive the non-competition obligations of other
departing employees. .

Our corporate governance provisions may deter a financially attractive ¢takeover attempt

Provisions of our charter and by-laws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that
stockholders may consider favorable, including a transaction in which stockholders would receive a premium
for their shares. These provisions include the following:

 any action that may be taken by stockholders must be taken at an annual or special meeting and may
not be taken by written consent;

¢ stockholders must comply with advance notice requirements before raising a matter at a meeting of
stockholders or nominating a director for election;

» a Chairman of the Board or a Chief Executive Officer are the only persons who may call a special
meeting of stockholders;

= our Board of Directors is staggered into three classes and the members may be removed only for cause
upon the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote; and

» our Board of Directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to fix the rights
and preferences of and issue shares of preferred stock.

Provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging
with us.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” (SFAS 141) and SFAS No. 142, “ Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for under the purchase method only and that
certain acquired intangible assets in a business combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill.
SFAS 142 requires that ratable amortization of goodwill be replaced with periodic tests of the goodwill’s
impairment and that intangible assets other than goodwill be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS 141 is
effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 and for all business combinations
accounted for by the purchase method for which the date of acquisition is after June 30, 2001. The provisions
of SFAS 142 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and will therefore be adopted
by us, as required, on January 1, 2002.

In lieu of amortization, we are required to perform an initial impairment review of our goodwill in 2002
and an annual impairment review thereafter. We are currently preparing the analysis necessary to test
impairment under the new accounting pronouncement. If an impairment is identified we will record an
impairment charge in 2002, and the charge could be material. The charge, if any, will be recorded as a
cumulative change in accounting principle in the statement of operations.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 supersedes FASB Statement No. 121 (SFAS 121), “Accounting for
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets to Be Disposed of.” SFAS 144 applies to all
long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) and consequently amends Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 30 (APB 30), “Reporting Results of Operations- Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment
of a Business.” SFAS 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001, and will therefore be adopted by us, as required, on January 1, 2002. We anticipate that
the adoption of SFAS 144 will not have a material impact on our financial position or our results of operations.

In November 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Topic Number D-103
regarding “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-Of-Pocket” Expenses
Incurred.” This announcement requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred
should be characterized as revenue in our statement of operations. We incur incidental expenses in the
delivery of services to our clients that are commonly referred to as “out-of-pocket” expenses. These expenses
include, but are not limited to, travel and related charges. Comparative financial statements for prior periods
should be reclassified to comply with the guidance of this staff announcement. The provisions of this
announcement will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and will therefore be
adopted by us, as required, on January 1, 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
reimbursable expenses, which were accounted for as a reduction of the related costs, amounted to
$15.8 million and $20 million, respectively.

Item TA. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosuves About Market Risk

We do not believe that we have any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other
financial instruments. At December 31, 2001, our exposure to market risk relates primarily to changes in
interest rates on our investment portfolio. Our short-term investments consist primarily of fixed income
securities. We invest only with high credit quality issuers and we do not use derivative financial instruments in
our investment portfolio. We do not believe that a significant increase or decrease in interest rates would have
a material adverse impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Sapient Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Sapient Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
January 23, 2002
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SAPIENT CORPORATION
CONSOCLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,
2001 2000

{In thousands, except
share and per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents.. ... .. ... . . . i i i $109,744 $ 97,583
Short-term INVESTMENTS . . . ..o\ttt e et e 134,793 182,991

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $3,220 and
$5,433 at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively................... 37,036 83,403
Unbilled revenues on CoNtracts ... ....ovi ittt ie i 11,289 7,154
Income tax receivable . ... ... . . 13,562 —_
Prepaid EXPenses. . ..ottt e e 3,212 5,528
Other CUIment aSSetS . .ot ottt et e e 2,444 6,106
Deferred INCOME taXeS .. ..ottt e —_ 8,167
Total current assets ...ttt e 312,080 390,932
Property and equipment, net . ........ ... 41,466 56,672
Intangible assets, met . ... ... .. e 113,144 144,956
Other 8SEtS . ..o e e 8,180 11,594
Total assets . .t $474,870 $604,154

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable . ... ... $ 5,668 $ 2,100
ACCTUE EXPEIISES . o . vttt et e e 13,194 12,122
Acquisition payable ........ .. ... — 5,573
Accrued restructuring costs, Current portion ............c.o.eiiiiiiiai... 17,829 —
Accrued COMPENSAtION . . .. .o vttt e e 7,199 23,358
Income taxes payable . ........ ... 907 10,992
Deferred revenues on CoOntracts . . ..ottt e 9,465 18,320
Total current labilities. ... ... o 54,262 72,465
Accrued restructuring costs, net of current portion ........................ 35,511 —
Deferred inCome (aXes .. ..o vttt it e — 451
Other long term liabilities ........... . ... i 3,883 4,930
Total labilities . ....... .. .. . 93,656 77,846
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10) ........................c.....
Minority interest . . ... ... 444 908

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized and
none outstanding at December 31, 2001 and 2000 ..................... — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000,000 shares authorized,
126,314,050 and 121,373,675 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively ................ ..., 1,262 1,214
Additional paid-in capital ....... ... . e 468,447 423,935
Treasury stock, at cost, 110,000 shares ....................coiiun.. ... (421) —
Deferred compensation ......... ... e (8,443) (10,058)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10ss ........... ... ..o (1,478) (862)
Retained earnings (deficit) ........ .. ... ... . . (78,597) 111,171

Total stockholders’ equity .............. i 380,770 525,400
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............ ... covviiunann. $474,870 $604,154

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(In thousands, except per share data)
REVETNUES .« o v ot ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 329,698  $503,339 $276,844

Operating expenses:

Project personnel costs (exclusive of stock-based compensation of
$3,421, $1,397 and $1,005 for 2001, 2000, and 1999,
FeSpectively) ... 235,766 249,279 134,638

Selling and marketing costs (exclusive of stock-based
compensation of $258, $95 and $435 for 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively) ... e 27,949 33,903 21,429

General and administrative costs (exclusive of stock-based
compensation of $770, $673 and $589 for 2001, 2000, and 1999,

TESPECHIVELY) .ottt e et 131,729 135424 69,388
Restructuring and other related charges....................... 100,640 — —
Amortization of intangible assets ........... ... ... ... ... .. 28,126 11,328 2,284
Stock-based compensation .......... . ... i 4,449 2,165 2,029
ACQUISIION COSIS . ..ottt e — — 2,340

Total operating eXpenses . .............c.c.oiuueei... e 528,659 432,099 232,108
Income (loss) from operations ............. ... ..o (198,961) 71,240 44,736
Gain on equity investment change in interest .................... 1,407 — —
Other EXPeNSE . . oottt e e e (4,677) (1,250) —_
INtErest IMCOMIE . . vt o ettt e e e e e e e e e i 9,407 11,678 4,227
Income (loss) before income taxes, net equity loss from investees
and minority Interest. . ... ... . (192,824) 81,668 48,963
Income tax provision (benefit) ...... ... .. .. .. ... . L. (3,091) 33,925 18,506
Income (loss) before net equity loss from investees and minority
INEETESE o vttt et e (189,733) 47,743 30,457
Net equity loss from investees...................cooviiieinn... (499) (878) (157)
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated subsidiary ............ 464 95 —
Netincome (1088) . ... .ottt $(189,768) $ 46,960 § 30,300
Basic net income (loss) pershare ............................. $ (1.53) § 039 § 027
Diluted net income (loss) pershare.......................vv... $ (1.53) § 035 § 024
Weighted average common shares ............. ... .. .. ... ... 124,256 119,191 111,418
Weighted average common share equivalents .................... — 14,573 14,208
Weighted average common shares and common share equivalents. . . 124,256 133,764 125,626

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Accumulated

Gther
c Stock Additional Comprehensive Comprehensive Retained Total
_ommonr StOCX  paid-in Treasury  Deferred Income Income Earnings Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Stock Compensation (Loss) (Loss) {Deficit) Equity
Balance at December 31, 1998 . ... 108,424 $1,084 $121,97t § — $ (2,178) — $ 26 $ 33911 $154,814
Shares issued under stock option
and purchase plans .......... 4,117 42 23,944 — — — — — 23,986
Proceeds from public offering ... 2,230 22 83,254 — — — — — 83,276
Common stock issued for
acquisition of ELab ......... 176 2 4,136 — — — — — 4,138
Tax benefit of disqualifying
dispositions of stock options . . . — — 6,556 — —_ — — —_ 6,556
Amortization of deferred
compensation ............... — — 539 —_ 1,490 — — — 2,029
Comprehensive income:
Net income .................. — — — — — $ 30,300 — 30,300 30,300
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation
adjustments .............. — — — — _ (44) (44) — (44)
Net unrealized loss on
short-term investments ... .. — — — — — (96) (96) — (96)
Comprehensive income . . ... .. $ 30,160
Balance at December 31, 1999 .... 114,947 1,150 240,400 — (688) — (114) 64,211 304,959
Shares issued under stock option
and purchase plans .......... 4,919 49 36,390 — — —_ — —_ 36,939
Change in interest in subsidiary . . — — 347 — — — — — 347
Common stock issued for i
acquisition of Human Code ... 1,508 15 131,098 — ' (11,185) — — — 119,928
Tax benefit of disqualifying
dispositions of stock options . . . — — 15,200 — — — — — 15,200
Amortization of deferred
compensation ............... — — — — 1,815 — —_ — 1,815
Comprehensive income:
Netincome .................. — — — — —_ $ 46,960 — 46,960 46,960
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation
adjustments .............. — — — — — (422) (422) — (422)
Net unrealized loss on
investments............... —_ — — — — (326) (326) — (326)
Comprehensive income ... .. .. $ 46212
Balance at December 31, 2000 .... 121,374 1,214 423,935 — (10,058) — (862) 111,171 525,400
Shares issued under stock option
and purchase plans .......... 2,890 29 17,637 — —_ — — — 17,666
Common stock issued for
acquisition of TLG .......... 2,200 22 14,151 — (8,596) — — — 5,577
Common stock received from
Human Code purchase price
adjustment ................. (150) (2) (942) — — — — — (944)
Repurchases of common stock. . . (110) (1) — (421) — — — — (422)
Tax benefit of disqualifying
dispositions of stock options . .. — — 20,600 — — —_ — — 20,600
Amortization of deferred
compensation ............... — — — — 3,277 —_— — — 3,277
Write-off of deferred
- compensation ............... — — (6,934) — 6,934 — — — —
Comprehensive loss:
Netloss ...ooovviiniion... — — - — — $(189,768) — (189,768) (189,768)
Other comprehensive loss: :
Currency translation
adjustments .............. — — — — — (1,642) (1,642) — (1,642)
Net unrealized gain on
investments. .............. — — —_ — — 1,026 1,026 — 1,026
Comprehensive loss. ... ...... $(190,384)
Balance at December 31, 2001 .... 126,204 $1,262 $468,447 $(421) § (8,443) $(1,478)  $(78,597) $380,770

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (I0SS) ... ovivint i e $(189,768) $ 46,960 $§ 30,300

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in)
provided by operating activities:

Loss recognized on write-down of investments ................ 4,677 1,250 —
Gain on equity investment change in interest ................. (1,407) — —
Loss recognized on disposition of fixed assets ................. 1,723 — —
Depreciation and amortization................ ... ... ... ... 18,611 13,949 8,007
Amortization of intangible assets ........................... 28,126 11,328 2,284
Deferred income taXes .. ....ovvvtniiiir i 7,716 (7,923) (2,874)
Allowance for doubtful accounts .. .......................... 2,706 6,347 1,240
Stock-based compensation . ......... ... ... 4,449 2,165 2,029
AcCqQUISIHION COSES ..ottt e — — 2,340
Equity received for services rendered ........................ (156) (2,076) —
Non-cash restructuring costs ... ........ovviineennveennan.. 19,972 — —
Net equity loss from investees. . .........coovviiieiinein... 499 878 157
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated subsidiary ......... (464) (95) —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquired assets
and liabilities:

" Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable ................. 38,304 (14,767) (32,982)
(Increase) decrease in unbilled revenues on contracts........ (4,135) 7,371 (3,019)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid exXpenses ................... 2,291 (1,181) (3,447)
Decrease (increase) in other current assets................. 3,662 (2,071) (842)
Decrease (increase) in other assets ....................... 279 (2,807) (39)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable ................... 3,568 (2,730) 3,172
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses ................... 1,287 1,693 (998)
Increase in accrued restructuring costs..................... 44,929 — —
(Pecrease) increase in accrued compensation. . ............. (16,159) 11,320 3,049
(Decrease) increase in income taxes payable ............... - (559) 25,244 5,287
(Decrease) increase in other long term liabilities .. .......... (252) 3,838 181
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues on contracts ....... (3,473) 3,080 4,229

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities ... ... (33,574) 101,773 18,074

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment ........................ (18,208) (43,748) (16,987)
Net cash received from acquisition.......................... —_ 435 15
Investments in and advances to affiliates ..................... (962) (8,036) (1,732)
Long term investments . .. .....ouuvunerneienneeneennen.nn 312 (3,751) (600)
Cash paid for acquisition costs .................. ... ... — — (2,340)
Sales and maturities of short-term investments................ 266,594 177,850 123,708
Purchases of short-term investments ........................ (217,977)  (216,774)  (202,231)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ... ... $ 29,759 § (94,024) $(100,167)
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Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from stockholders for notes receivable ...............
Payments to stockholders for notes receivable.................
Proceeds from stock option and purchase plans ...............
Net proceeds from follow-on public offering ..................
Contributions from minority interest of consolidated subsidiary . .
Repurchases of common stock ........ ... ... ... ... .. L

Net cash provided by ﬁnanéing activities . ..............

Effect of exchange rate changesoncash .......................
Increase in cash and cash equivalents .........................
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ...................

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year .............. ... .....

Schedule of non-cash operating activities:
Tax benefit of disqualifying dispositions of stock options........

Schedule of non-cash investing activities:

Common stock received from Human Code purchase price
adjustment .. ...

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Net assets and liabilities recognized upon acquisitions:
Cash and cash equivalents . ................ ... ... ... ....
Accounts receivable .. ... ...
Unbilled revenues on contracts .. ........... ..o ..
- Prepaid expenses and other current assets ....................
Property and equipment .. ........ .. . . i
Other assets ...t
Accounts payable . ...... .. ... ..
AcCrued EXPeNSES . . v\ttt
Accrued compensation . ........ ..
Deferred revenues on contracts . ...,
Other long term liabilities ............... ... .. ... ...
Accrued acquisition CostS. . ...t
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash financing activities:
Common stock issued for acquisition of ELLab................

Common stock and options issued for acquisition of Human
Code . .o

Acquisition payable for TLG............... ..ot

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2600 1999
(In thousands)

$ —  $ 71§ 3,826
— — (3,133)
17,510 36,939 23,986
— — 83,276
— 1,350 _
(422) — —
17,088 38,360 107,955
(1,112) (108) —
12,161 46,001 25,862
97,583 51,582 25,720
$ 109,744 $§ 97,583 § 51,582
$ 20,600 $ 15200 $ 6,556
$ 944  § — $ —
— 3 435 $ 15
— 1,166 631
— 1,051 149
— 454 8
— 3,282 164
— 137 14
— 393 84
— 9,258 1,589
— 356 —
— 104 —
— 133 —
—  $ 2271 3 875
— — 4,138
— 131,113 —
— $ 5573 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAPIENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{1) Nature of Business

Sapient Corporation (Sapient or the Company), a leading business and technology consultancy, helps
Global 2000 clients achieve explicit business outcomes through the rapid application and support of advanced
information technology, primarily on a fixed-price basis. The Company is focused on delivering business value
to its clients by understanding the key business problems they face and by solving those problems. The
Company currently has offices in Cambridge, Massachusetts, New York, San Francisco, Chicago, Atlanta,
Dallas, Los Angeles, Washington D.C., Denver, Houston, Diisseldorf, London, Munich, New Delhi, Tokyo
and Toronto.

The Company’s financial results for 2001 declined substantially from its financial results for 2000, due
primarily to the decrease in the demand for its services, and the demand, in general, for advanced technology
consulting services. This decrease reflected the declining economic climate in the United States in late 2000
and in 2001. As a result of this decrease in demand, the Company’s revenues for the year ended December 31,
2001 decreased 34% from its revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000, and the Company’s net income
declined from $47.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to a net loss of $189.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. The Company’s quarterly revenues declined sequentially throughout the year, with
its revenues for the three month periods ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2001
decreasing 22%, 20%, 20% and 10%, respectively, from each of the previous quarters. The Company expects to
experience a further decline in its revenues, and flat or declining operating results, for the quarter ended
March 31, 2002, which could continue into future quarters. As a result of the losses incurred for the year
ended December 31, 2001 and the expected further decline in its revenue in the first quarter of 2002, the
Company reduced its work force in March 2001, July 2001 and February 2002. The Company also reduced
office space in cities throughout the United States and closed its Sydney, Australia office. Although the
Company’s operating cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2000 resulted in a use of cash of
$33.6 million, its cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at December 31, 2001 was $244.5 million.
The Company believes that its existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to
meet its working capital, capital expenditure and restructuring requirements for at least the next 18 months.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and
majority-owned, controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Certain amounts in previously issued financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
presentation.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates relied upon in
preparing these financial statements include estimated costs to complete long term contracts, allowances for
bad debts, estimated fair value of equity instruments received for services and from investments made, and
whether any decline in such fair value is other than temporary, expected future cash flows used to evaluate the
recoverability of goodwill and long-lived assets, restructuring and other related charges and recoverability of
the Company’s net deferred tax assets and related valuation allowance. Although the Company regularly
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assesses these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are recorded in
the period in which they become known.

{c) Foreign Currency Translation

For non-U.S. subsidiaries, which operate in a local currency environment, assets and liabilities are
translated at period-end exchange rates, and income statement items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. The local currency for all foreign subsidiaries is considered to be the functional currency
and accordingly, translation adjustments are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity under
the caption of “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” Realized gains and losses from foreign
currency transactions are included in the statement of operations, and were not material to the Company’s
consolidated results of operations for the years ended 2001, 2000 and 1999.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalent balances consist of deposits and repurchase agreements with a large
U.S. commercial bank and high-grade commercial paper. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company has
classified its cash equivalent investments, totaling approximately $5.4 million and $2.0 million, respectively, as
available-for-sale. These investments are stated at amortized costs, which approximates fair value.

(e} Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments are available-for-sale securities which are recorded at fair market value. The
difference between amortized cost and fair market value, net of tax effect, is shown as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. The cost of securities available-for-sale is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
discounts to maturity. Interest and amortization of premiums and discounts for all securities are included in
interest income. Realized gains and losses from sales of available-for-sale securities were not material for any
period presented. The Company considers available evidence, including the duration and extent to which
declines in fair value compared to cost and the associated unrealized loss is “other than temporary”. If the
decline is considered other than temporary, the unrealized loss is removed from other comprehensive income
(loss) and recorded as other expense.

(f) Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require
collateral on accounts receivable. The Company maintains allowances for potential credit losses and such
losses have been within management’s expectations. No customer accounted for greater than 10 percent of
total revenues in 2001, 2000 or 1999.

The fair market values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses at both December 31, 2001 and 2000 approximate their carrying
amounts.

(g) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Deprecia-
tion and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of
the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. When an item is sold or retired, the cost and related

42




SAPIENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

accumulated depreciation is relieved, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of
operations.

(h) Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangibles

Goodwill and other purchased intangibles are being amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated
useful lives ranging from one to seven years.

(i) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of”, the carrying value of
intangible assets and other long-lived assets is reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or
circumstances, both internally and externally, that may suggest impairment. If such circumstances exist, the
Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to determine if impairment exists based on
estimated undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining useful life of the assets and comparing that value
to the carrying value of the assets. If the carrying value of the asset is greater than the estimated future cash
flows, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. In determining expected future cash flows, assets are
grouped at the lowest level for which cash flows are identifiable and independent of cash flows from other asset
groups. To date, no such impairment has been indicated. Should there be an impairment in the future, the
Company will measure the amount of the impairment, if any, based on the fair value of the impaired assets.
The cash flow estimates that are used contain management’s best estimates, using appropriate and customary
assumptions and projections at the time. It is possible that changes in these estimates in the near term could
materially affect our financial condition and results of operations. See item (t) in this note for “New
Accounting Pronouncements”.

(j) Other Assets

Other assets include long term investments recorded under both the cost and equity methods of
accounting. The Company uses the equity method of accounting for investments when it has an ownership
interest of 20% to 50% or the ability to exercise significant influence over an investee’s operating activities.
Investments accounted for under the equity method and cost method amounted to approximately $5.7 million
and $200,000 at December 31, 2001, respectively, and approximately $3.8 million and $4.4 million at
December 31, 2000, respectively.

The Company classifies all cost method equity investments of publicly traded companies as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale investments are reported at fair value as of each balance sheet date. Fair value is
determined based on market quotations. Investments in equity securities for which fair value is not readily
determinable are carried at cost. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in the value of the
investment below cost, the Company considers available evidence, including the duration and extent to which
the market value has been less than cost, to evaluate the extent to which the decline is “other than
temporary”. If the decline is considered other than temporary, the cost basis of the investment is written down
to fair value as a new cost basis and the amount of the writedown is included in the Company’s consolidated
statement of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded $0 and
$786,000, respectively, of unrealized holding losses in stockholders’ equity. For the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, the Company recorded $4.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively, in charges to write down
certain investments because the decline in the value of these investments was considered to be other than
temporary.
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(k) Change in Interest Gains and Losses

The Company includes gains and losses on changes in its interest in its subsidiaries and equity method
investees in net income. If the change in interest is a gain and the subsidiary or equity method investee is a
research and development, start-up or development stage company or an entity whose viability as a going
concern is under consideration, the Company accounts for the change in interest as a component of
stockholders’ equity.

(1) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes all of its revenue from the provision of professional services under written
service contracts with its clients. All revenue generated from fixed-price contracts is recognized on the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting, based on the ratio of labor hours incurred to total labor
hours. This method is used since reasonably dependable estimates of the revenues and costs applicable to
various stages of a contact can be made, based on historical expenses and milestones set in the contract. All
revenue from time and material contracts is recognized as services are provided. In some instances during
2001 and 2000, services were provided to clients in exchange for equity instruments of the client. The
Company measures the fair value of the equity instrument on the date the parties come to a mutual
understanding of the terms of the arrangement and a commitment for performance by the Company to earn
the equity instruments is reached, or when the equity is earned, whichever occurs earlier. For the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, $156,000 and $2.1 million, respectively, of equity was received for services
rendered. Subsequent changes in the value of equity are measured as indicated in the “Other Assets” policy
above.

Recognized revenues and profits are subject to revisions as the contract progresses to completion.
Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on a contract-by-contract basis and are
recognized in the period in which such losses are determined. For the year ended December 31, 2001,
$1.5 million was provided for estimated losses on one uncompleted contract. Earnings recognized in excess of
the amounts invoiced to clients are classified as unbilled revenues. Amounts invoiced to clients in excess of
revenue recognized are classified as deferred revenues.

The Company recognizes revenue for services only in those situations where collection from the client is
probable. The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of its customers to make required payments. The Company bases its estimates on its historical
collection and write-off experience, current trends, credit policy, detailed analysis of specific client situations
and percentage of its accounts receivable by aging category. If the financial condition of Sapient’s clients were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payment, additional allowances may be
required. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, $2.7 million, $6.3 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, was provided for doubtful accounts.

The Company also incurs “out-of-pocket” expenses which are reimbursable by the client. Through
December 31, 2001, these expenses were accounted for as a reduction of the related costs. Effective January 1,
2002, reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred will be characterized as revenue in our
statement of operations. See Item(t) in this note for “New Accounting Pronouncements.”

(m) Research and Development Costs

Substantially all research and development activities of the Company (except those incurred in
connection with purchased business combinations) have been pursuant to customer contracts and, accord-
ingly, have been charged to project costs as incurred. The Company has not capitalized any internally
developed software development costs.
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(n) Stock-Based Compensation

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123) requires that companies either
recognize compensation expense for grants of stock, stock options, and other equity instruments based on fair
value, or provide pro forma disclosure of net income and net income per share in the notes to the financial
statements. The Company applies APB Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its plans.
Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized under SFAS 123 for the Company’s employee stock
option plans, and pro forma disclosure is provided in Note 11.

The stock-based compensation expense appearing in the financial statements relates to the Human Code,
Inc. (Human Code), The Launch Group Aktiengesellschaft (TLG) and Adjacency, Inc. (Adjacency)
acquisitions. The Company assumed the Human Code options granted to Human Code employees, which vest
ratably over periods up to four years. Deferred compensation expense relates to the intrinsic value of the
unvested options on the date of purchase. TLG employees were issued $10.0 million of restricted Sapient
stock in July 2001. The $10.0 million is being amortized over a period of 4.75 years commencing on the date of
acquisition. Adjacency stock options were granted, prior to the acquisition by the Company, at below fair
market value. The deferred compensation was being amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period
of three years and has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. Certain employees completed their
vesting upon the acquisition of Adjacency, as described in Note 11(f).

(o) Advertising Costs

The Company charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred, and includes them in selling and
marketing in the consolidated statements of operations. Such costs totaled approximately $156,000, $1.1 mil-
lion and $542,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

(p) Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases, operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences, operating losses,
or tax credit carryforwards are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires the
establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant
management judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, its deferred tax
assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against its net deferred tax assets. The Company
evaluates the weight of all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. See Note 9.

(q) Earnings (Loss] Per Share

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, the Company presents basic net income
(loss) per share and diluted net income (loss) per share. Basic net income (loss) per share is based on the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share reflects the
per share effect of dilutive common stock equivalents. Common stock equivalents were outstanding for the
year ended December 31, 2001 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the
Company recorded a net loss for the year.
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(r) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

During 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, “Reporting
Comprehensive Income” (SFAS 130). SFAS 130 establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income
(loss) and its components in the body of the financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) includes net
income (loss) as currently reported under generally accepted accounting principles and also considers the
effect of additional economic events that are not required to be recorded in determining net income (loss) but
are rather reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The Company reports foreign currency
translation gains and losses and unrealized gains and losses on investments as components of comprehensive
income (loss).

(s) Segment Reporting

Through December 31, 2001, the Company engaged in business activities in one operating segment,
which involves the provision of business and technology consulting and solutions, primarily on a fixed-price,
fixed-timeframe basis.

Data for the geographic regions in which the Company operates is presented below:

2001 2060 1999
(in thousands)

Revenues:
North AMETICa . oottt $253,940  $459.460  $265,187
International .............. . . i 75,758 43,879 11,657
Total Revenues . ... ... . i $329,698  $503,339 $276,844
Long-lived assets:
North America ...t i $144,290 $196,367 $§ 37,536
International . ....... ...t 10,320 5,261 2,637
Total long-lived assets ........... ... ... .. ... . ... $154,610 $201,628 § 40,173

During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, Sapient Ltd, the Company’s subsidiary in the UK,
had $56.6 million and $33.8 million of revenue, respectively, or 75% and 77%, respectively, of total
international revenues. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company now has discrete financial data by operating
segments. Operating segments are defined as components of the Company about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by management. Management will use this information to
manage resources and make financial decisions in the future. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company will
report revenues and operating income (loss) on a industry basis in the United States and on a geographic basis
for its international operations.

(t) New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” (SFAS 141) and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Gther Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for under the purchase method only and that
certain acquired intangible assets in a business combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill.
SFAS 142 requires that ratable amortization of goodwill be replaced with periodic tests of the goodwill’s
impairment and that intangible assets other than goodwill be amortized over their useful lives. SFAS 141 is
effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 and for all business combinations
accounted for by the purchase method for which the date of acquisition is after June 30, 2001. The provisions
of SFAS 142 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and will therefore be adopted
by the Company, as required, on January 1, 2002.
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As a result of the provisions of SFAS 142, the Company will cease to amortize approximately
$101.8 million of goodwill beginning in 2002. The Company recorded approximately $18.9 million of goodwill
amortization during 2001 and would have recorded approximately $18.6 million of goodwill amortization
during 2002 attributable to goodwill balances as of December 31, 2001. In lieu of amortization, the Company
is required to perform an initial impairment review of its goodwill in 2002 and an annual impairment review
thereafter. The Company is currently preparing the analysis necessary to test impairment under the new
accounting pronouncement. If an impairment is identified, the Company will record an impairment charge in
2002, and the charge could be material. The charge, if any, will be recorded as a cumulative change in
accounting principle in the statement of operations.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 supersedes FASB Statement No. 121 (SFAS 121), “Accounting for
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long Lived Assets to Be Disposed of.” SFAS 144 applies to all
long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) and consequently amends Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 30 (APB 30), “Reporting Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business.” SFAS 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001, and will therefore be adopted by the Company, as required, on January 1, 2002,
Management of the Company anticipates that the adoption of SFAS 144 will not have a material impact on
the Company’s financial position or its results of operations.

In November 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Topic Number D-103
regarding “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for “Out-Of-Pocket” Expenses
Incurred.” This announcement requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred
should be characterized as revenue in the Company’s statement of operations. The Company incurs incidental
expenses in the delivery of services to its clients that are commonly referred to as “out-of-pocket™ expenses.
These expenses include, but are not limited to, travel and related charges. Comparative financial statements
for prior periods should be reclassified to comply with the guidance of this staff announcement. The provisions
of this announcement will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and will therefore be
adopted by the Company, as required, on January 1, 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
reimbursable expenses, which were accounted for as a reduction of the related costs, amounted to
$15.8 million and $20 million, respectively.

(3) Short-Term Investments

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, all of the Company’s short-term investments were classified as
available-for-sale. Short-term investments are carried on the balance sheet at their fair market value.

The following tables summarize the Company’s short-term investments in thousands of dollars:

2001
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value
Commercial paper .............cooveivinrieaan.. $ 8,095 $ 6 $ — $ 8,101
U.S. government agencies ... ..., 73,613 474 (19) 74,068
Municipal notes and bonds .. .......... ... ... .. 46,288 207 (100) 46,395
Corporate debt securities . . ........ ..., 6,204 48 (23) 6,229
Short-term investments ........................ $134,200 $735 $(142)  $134,793
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2000
Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Gains Losses Value
Commercial paper ............ ... ... il $ 29,554 $ — $ (13) § 29,541
U.S. government agencies .. ..........ovvunennn... 9,560 11 — 9,571
Municipal notes and bonds . ...................... 137,923 336 (34) 138,225
Corporate debt securities ... ...... ... ... ... 5,590 64 _ 5,654
Short-term investments ................. . ...... $182,627 $411 $ (47)  $182,991

Contractual maturities of short-term investments at December 31, 2001:

Amortized Market

Cost Value
Lessthanone year....... ... ... .. ... . . . i $100,844  $101,346
Duein 1 -2 years . ...t 15,580 15,721
Due in 2 = 5 Years ... ..ot 2,760 2,766
Due after Syears .. ... ..o 15,016 14,960
Short-term INVESMENTS . . .. .ottt $134,200 $134,793

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because some borrowers have the right to call or
prepay obligations. Gross realized gains and losses on the sale of securities are calculated using the specific
identification method, and were not material to the Company’s consolidated results of operations for the years
ended 2001, 2000 and 1999.

(4) Property and Equipment

The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment at December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as
follows:

Estimated
20601 2060 Useful Life
(In thousands)
Lesser of
lease term or
Leaschold improvements. .. ...t iinnnnnn. $ 26,978 $ 25,270 life of asset
Furniture and fixtures .......... .. . 5,799 8,291 5 years
Office eqUIPMENt ... ..t ti  e 7,793 8,765 S years
Computer eqUIPMEnt . . ..ottt e 42,388 46,959 3 years
82,958 89,285
Less accumulated depreciation.......................... (41,492) (32,613)
Property and equipment, net. . .........coovvriiriiiiinn... $ 41,466 $ 56,672

Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $18.6 million, $13.9 million and $8.0 million -
for the years ended 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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(5) Imtangible Assets

Certain intangible assets were acquired in connection with the Company’s acquisitions which were
accounted for as purchases. The following table summarizes the cost and accumulated amortization of
intangible assets at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Estimated
2601 2000 Useful Life
(In thousands)
Marketing assets and customer lists ..................... $ 4100 $ 4,100 7 Years
Assembled work force and employment agreements........ 5,278 5,278  1-4 Years
Developed technology .......... .. ... .. i 16,161 16,161 3 Years
Goodwill .. ... 130,028 133,716 7 Years
155,567 159,255
Less accumulated amortization ......................... (42,423)  (14,299)
Intangible assets, net.............. ... ... .. oL, $113,144 $144,956

(6) Investments and Minority Interest

On October 23, 2000, the Company invested $3.7 million in Dream Incubator, Inc. (DI), a management
consulting company that develops strategies for e-businesses in Japan, and acquired a 19% interest. During the
year ended December 31, 2001, the Company’s equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from 19% to
approximately 17% due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors at a higher share price than the Company
previously paid. The Company recorded a $1.4 million gain as a result of the change in equity interest. Under
the terms of the Company’s investment agreement with DI, the Company has one seat on DI's board of
directors, with special voting rights and other privileges, and therefore uses the equity method of accounting
for this investment. On October 23, 2000, DI acquired a 12% equity interest in Sapient KK, the Company’s
Japanese subsidiary, for $1.3 million in cash. The excess cash payment of $347,000 over the Company’s
carrying value of Sapient KK was recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity, due to the start up nature
of Sapient KK. DI will provide Sapient KK with start up services including strategy, temporary management,
recruiting and other services. Prior to this transaction, the Company owned 100% of this subsidiary. DI may
put to the Company up to 50% of their shares in Sapient KK on the second through fourth anniversary of the
agreement for the then-fair value. The estimated fair value of the potential put obligation was not materially
different than the original share proceeds as of December 31, 2001. The Company has similar put rights to DI
on 50% of their shares in DI in the aggregate.

In September 1999, the Company commenced a joint venture, Sapient S.p.A., in Milan, Italy. The joint
venture provides business and technology consulting in Italy. The Company owns 50% of this joint venture and
uses the equity method of accounting because the Company has the ability to significantly influence but not
control the joint venture. The Company has call option rights to purchase one additional share in January 2002
and January 2003 at a price equal to its nominal value. The Company did not exercise its option in January
2002. The Company also has the option to purchase the remaining ownership interests in the joint venture in
January 2004 and in each quarter of 2004 at a price determined using a formula based on an appraised fair
market value and a multiple of projected earnings.

(7) Bank Loan Facility

The Company has a $5.0 million loan facility with a bank, which expires on August 30, 2002. Borrowings
under this agreement bear interest at the bank’s prime rate. The Company had no borrowings under this
facility at December 31, 2001 or 2000. Letters of credit of $3.7 million, which were issued as security deposits

49




SAPIENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

for certain of the Company’s lease commitments, were outstanding under the agreement at both December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively. The facility contains various financial covenants, including limitations on the
payment of cash dividends and maintenance of certain financial ratios. The Company was in compliance with
these covenants at December 31, 2001.

{8) Restructuring and Other Related Charges

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the
second half of 2000, the Company announced restructurings of its workforce and operations in March 2001
and July 2001. In connection with the restructuring plan announced in March 2001, the Company recorded
restructuring and other related charges of $47.3 million, which consisted of $11.9 million for workforce
reductions, $33.3 million for consolidation of facilities, incltuding leasehold improvements and $2.1 million for
other depreciable assets. The March 2001 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of approximately 750
employees, none of whom remained employed by the Company as of March 31, 2001. 73% of the terminated
employees were project personnel, 4% were selling and marketing personnel and 23% were general and
administrative personnel. The restructuring plan also included closing the Sydney, Australia office and
consolidating office space in other cities where the Company had multiple office locations. Estimated costs for
the consolidation of facilities comprise contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and
related costs, in addition to future depreciation of the related leasehold improvements, offset by estimated sub-
lease income. The total reduction of office space resulting from these office closings and consolidations was
approximately 411,000 square feet, all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2001. Due to declining rental
markets, the Company currently does not expect to sub-lease certain office space as quickly or at rates as high
as originally anticipated, resulting in additional restructuring charges of $13.2 million for facilities during
second through fourth quarters of 2001, for a total charge of $60.5 million for this restructuring plan.

In connection with a further restructuring of its operations announced in July 2001, the Company
recorded restructuring and other related charges of $38.0 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2001,
which consisted of $11.7 million for workforce reductions, $23.5 million for consolidation of facilities and
$2.8 million for other depreciable assets. The Company reduced its headcount by approximately 390
employees, principally in North America. The Company also announced the cessation of the game
development business it acquired from Human Code, which resulted in an additional headcount reduction of
111 employees. In total, the July 2001 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of approximately 501
employees, none of whom remained employed with the Company as of December 31, 2001. 76% of the
terminated employees were project personnel, 7% were selling and marketing personnel and 17% were general
and administrative personnel. The restructuring plan included consolidating office space in cities where the
Company had multiple office locations. Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities comprise contractual
rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, in addition to future depreciation of the
related leasehold improvements, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space
resulting from these office closings and consolidations was approximately 228,000 square feet, all of which was
vacated as of December 31, 2001. Due to final severance arrangements made to employees terminated in the
fourth quarter of 2001 and additional disposals of fixed assets identified in December 2001, the Company
recorded additional restructuring charges of $0.9 million for workforce and a non-cash charge of $1.2 million
for depreciable assets in the fourth quarter of 2001, for a total charge of $40.1 million for this restructuring
plan.

These restructuring charges and accruals required certain significant estimates and assumptions,
including sub-lease income. These estimates and assumptions will be monitored on a quarterly basis for
changes in circumstances. [t is reasonably possible that such estimates could change in the near term resulting
in additional charges and the effect could be material.
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Charges for restructuring and other related activities as of, and for the year ended, December 31, 2001
were as follows (in thousands):

Original  Additienal Utilized Balance
Charge Charge Adjustments Non-Cash Cash 12/31/01
Workforce ............. $11,948 $11,691 $ 852 $ (67) $(22,789) § 1,635
Facilities .............. 33,285 23,549 13,217 (6,470) (11,876) 51,705
Depreciable assets....... 2,109 2,769 1,220 (6,098) — —

$47,342  $38,009 $15,289 $(12,635) $(34,665) $53,340

Current accrued restructuring COStS . ..ottt et e i 17,829

Non-current accrued restructuring CoStS . ... vvvt ettt et iie e ... 335511

(9) Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

2001 2060 1999
(In thousands)

Federal, current . . ....... ... . . . . . . . . e $(11,634) $31,320 $19,166
State, current...... P 117 4,741 2,131
Foreign, current. . .....oo it 710 1,534 83

Subtotal, current income tax provision (benefit) ........... (10,807) 37,595 21,380
Federal, deferred ........ ... .. i 6,674 (3,174)  (2,816)
State, deferred . ... ... .. 1,042 (496) (440)
Foreign, deferred .. ....... .. .. i — — 382

Subtotal, deferred income tax provision (benefit)........... 7,716 (3,670) (2,874)
Income tax provision (benefit) ............................ $ (3,091) $33,925 $18,506

The income tax benefit of the employee stock option compensation expense for tax purposes in excess of
amounts recognized for financial reporting purposes credited to additional paid-in capital was $20.6 million,
$15.2 million and $6.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 differed from the amounts
computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to pre-tax income as a result of the following:

2001 2000 1999

Statutory income tax (benefit) rate .......... ... ... .. ... .. (35.0)% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit ........... ... ... ... ... ... (4.8) 5.2 5.6
Non-deductible goodwill ..... ... ... . ... .. . 3.1 24 —
Tax exXempt INLETEST . ..\ v ittt ettt et i (.9 (200 (1.4
Valuation allowance ......... ... . . . i i 354 — —
Other, net. .. o _06 09 (14)
Effective income tax (benefit) rate......... ... ... .. ... .. ... (1.6)%41.5% 37.8%
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At December 31, 2001 and 2000, deferred income tax assets and liabilities resulted from differences in
the recognition of income and expense for tax and financial reporting purposes. The sources and tax effects of
these temporary differences are presented below:

2001 2000
{In thousands)

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), current:

Deferred revenue .......... i $ 93712 % 7,560
Allowance for doubtful accounts .......... .. ... ..o .. 1,241 1,951
Other reserves and accruals . ......covuiiin i e 867 1,395
Unbilled revenue .......... .o (5,410)  (2,739)
Restructuring charges ...t 6,899 —
Gross deferred income tax assets (liabilities), current .............. 12,969 8,167
Valuation allowance ........... oo i, e (12,969) —
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities), current ................ $ — $ 8,167

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), non-current:

Property and equipment . ........... ... i $§ 1,849 $ 2395
In-process research and development .............. ... ... ......... 3,494 3,793
Goodwill and other intangibles............... ... ... ... ... ... ..., (1,470)  (5,430)
Less than 100% owned consolidated investments....................... (679}  (1,310)
TaX CTEAILS . oottt e 3,249 —
Unused net operating 10SSes ...ttt 38,871 -
Restructuring charges . ... ..o i e 14,359 —
O T . .o — 101
Gross deferred income tax assets (liabilities), non-current........... 59,673 (451)
Valuation allowance . ... i e (59,673) —
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities), non-current ............ $ — § (451)

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$130.0 million related to U.S. federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. If not utilized, the net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire at various times beginning in 2007. The Company’s federal research and
development and alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards for income tax purposes are approximately
$3.2 million. If not utilized, the federal tax credit carryforwards will expire in 2021. In assessing the
realizability of deferred income tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. As a result of operating losses incurred in
2001, anticipated additional operating losses for the first quarter of 2002 and uncertainty as to the extent and
timing of profitability in future periods, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance of approximately
$72.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decision to record the valuation allowance required
significant judgment. Had we not recorded this allowance, we would have reported materially different results.
If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more likely than not, an adjustment to the
deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such determination was made. The amount of the
deferred tax assets considered realizable is based on significant estimates, and it is at least reasonably possible
that changes in these estimates in the near term could materially affect our financial condition and results of
operations.
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Deferred tax assets of approximately $4.4 million as of December 31, 2001 pertain to net operating loss
carryforwards resulting from the exercise of employee stock options. When recognized, the tax benefit of these
loss carryforwards is accounted for as a credit to additional paid-in-capital.

The Company did not provide for United States income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on a
cumulative total of approximately $10.5 million of undistributed earnings for certain non-United States
subsidiaries. The Company intends to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in operations outside the United
States.

Total income taxes paid in 2001, 2000 and 1999 were approximately $565,000, $16.4 million and
$16.0 million, respectively.

(10) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company maintains its executive office in Cambridge, Massachusetts and operating offices in several
locations throughout the United States and abroad. Future minimum rental commitments under non-
cancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2001 were as
follows:

(In thousands)

2002 L P $18,837
2003 L 18,679
2004 .o 14,184
2005 ... P S 8,444
2006 .o 7,534
Therealter ..o 29,536

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was approximately $23.1 million,
$25.6 million and $14.4 million, respectively.

The Company has issued letters of credit with a bank in the aggregate amount of approximately
$3.7 million as security deposits for certain of its lease commitments.

The Company has certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities.
The Company accrues contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such
expenditures can be reasonably estimated. The Company is subject to various legal claims, totaling
approximately $3.7 million, which have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The Company believes
that these claims are without merit and intends to defend them vigorously. Although the Company does not
consider an unfavorable outcome to these claims probable, the Company cannot accurately predict the
ultimate outcome of these claims or the potential loss, if any.

{(11) Stock Plans
(a) 1992 Stock Option Plan

During 1992, the Company approved the 1992 Stock Plan (the 1992 Plan) for its employees. The 1992
Plan provided for the Board of Directors to grant stock options, stock purchase authorizations and stock bonus
awards up to an aggregate of 20,000,000 shares of non-voting common stock. Since consummation of the
Company’s initial public offering of common stock in April 1996, no further grants or awards may be made
pursuant to the 1992 Stock Plan. Previously outstanding awards remain outstanding, and are exercisable for
shares of the Company’s common stock.

53




SAPIENT CORPORATION
NOTES TQO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Most stock options granted under the 1992 Plan qualify as Incentive Stock Options (ISC) under
Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code. The price at which shares may be purchased with each option was
specified by the Board at the date the option was granted, but in the case of an ISO, was not less than the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The duration of each option was specified
by the Board, but no option designated as an ISO can be exercised beyond ten years from the date of grant.
Stock options granted under the 1992 Plan generally become exercisable over a four-year period, are
nontransferable, and expire six years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the
termination of the optionee’s employment or other relationship with the Company).

(b) 1996 Equity Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 1996 Equity Stock Incentive Plan (the 1996 Plan) authorizes the Company to grant
options to purchase common stock, to make awards of restricted common stock and to issue certain other
equity-related awards to employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. A total of 19,200,000
shares of common stock may be issued under the 1996 Plan. The 1996 Plan is administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which selects the persons to whom stock options and
other awards are granted and determines the number of shares, the exercise or purchase prices, the vesting
terms and the expiration dates of options granted. Non-qualified stock options may be granted at exercise
prices which are above, equal to or below the grant date fair market value of the common stock. The exercise
price of options qualifying as Incentive Stock Options may not be less than the fair market value of the
common stock on the grant date. Stock options granted under the 1996 Plan are nontransferable, generally
become exercisable over a four-year period and expire ten years after the date of grant (subject to earlier
termination in the event of the termination of the optionee’s employment or other relationship with the
Company).

(c) 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Purchase Plan) authorizes the issuance of up
to 3,600,000 shares of common stock to participating employees through a series of semi-annual offerings. The
maximum number of shares available in each offering is 200,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares
available from previous offerings) for the first six offerings, 240,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares
available from previous offerings) for the seventh through ninth offerings, 480,000 shares (plus any
unpurchased shares available from previous offerings) for the tenth offering and 600,000 shares (plus any
unpurchased shares available from previous offerings) for the eleventh and twelfth offerings. An employee
becomes eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan when he or she is regularly employed by the Company for
at least 20 hours a week and for more than five months in a calendar year on the first day of the applicable
offering. The price at which employees may purchase common stock in an offering is 85 percent of the closing
price of the common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on the day the offering commences or on the day
the offering terminates, whichever is lower. Approximately 56 percent, S8 percent and 55 percent of eligible
employees participated in at least one of the two offerings under the Purchase Plan during the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Under the Purchase Plan, the Company sold 856,849,
377,044 and 387,680 shares of common stock in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

(d) 1996 Director Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 1996 Director Stock Option Plan (the Director Plan) authorizes the issuance of
240,000 shares of common stock. Each non-employee director elected to the Board of Directors after the
adoption of the Director Plan will, upon his or her election, automatically be granted an option to purchase
40,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common
stock on the grant date. Options granted pursuant to the Directors Plan vest in four equal annual installments
commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant and generally expire ten years after the date of grant.
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As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, options to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock had been granted
under the Director Plan.

(e) 1998 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the 1998 Plan) authorizes the Company to grant options to
purchase common stock, to make awards of restricted common stock, and to issue certain other equity-related
awards to employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. The total number of shares of
common stock which may be issued under the 1998 Plan is 18,000,000 shares. The 1998 Plan is administered
by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which selects the persons to whom stock options
and other awards are granted and determines the number of shares, the exercise or purchase prices, the vesting
terms and the expiration date. Non-qualified stock options may be granted at exercise prices which are above,
equal to or below the grant date fair market value of the common stock. The exercise price of options
qualifying as Incentive Stock Options may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the
grant date. Stock options granted under the 1998 Plan are nontransferable, generally become exercisable over
a four-year period and expire ten years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the
termination of the optionee’s employment or other relationship with the Company).

(f) Adjacency, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan

In connection with the acquisition of Adjacency, the Company assumed the outstanding options granted
under the Adjacency 1998 Stock Option Plan (the Adjacency Plan). The Adjacency Plan was originally
adopted by Adjacency in 1998 and provided for the grant of stock options up to an aggregate of
4,000,000 shares of Class B common stock of Adjacency. In November 1998, prior to the acquisition,
Adjacency had granted a total of 437,000 options to its employees at exercise prices between $2.36 and $12.15
per share. As a result of the acquisition, the Company assumed options under the Adjacency Plan, and
converted them into options to purchase 253,016 shares of the Company’s common stock. The shares vested
ratably over three years starting on the date of employment, except for certain employees who were granted
accelerated vesting upon a change-in-control of Adjacency. The total compensation charge to be taken over
the vesting period is approximately $7.2 million, since the options were granted at below fair market value. A
charge of approximately $1.7 million in the first quarter of 1999 was the result of the change-in-control
provisions. Stock-based compensation expense, relating to these options, was approximately $247,000,
$440,000 and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The deferred
compensation has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. No further grants may be made pursuant to
the Adjacency Plan. Previously outstanding options under the Adjacency Plan remain outstanding, and are
exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock.

(g) Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan

In connection with the acquisition of Human Code, the Company assumed the outstanding options
granted under the Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (the Human Code Plan). Prior to
the acquisition, options to purchase approximately 2,864,000 shares of Human Code common stock were
outstanding at exercise prices between $0.10 and $3.25 per share. As a resuit of the acquisition, the Company
assumed the outstanding Human Code stock options and converted them into options to purchase approxi-
mately 471,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at exercise prices between $1.00 and $32.64 per share.
The options vest ratably over periods up to four years. The Company recorded deferred compensation of
$11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the unvested options, of which approximately $899,000 has not
been amortized as of December 31, 2001. Stock-based compensation expense relating to these options was
approximately $2.0 million and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In
connection with the termination of certain Human Code employees to whom the deferred compensation
related, $6.9 million was reversed through additional paid-in-capital in 2001. The remaining deferred
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compensation will be charged to operations at the rate of approximately $120,000 million per quarter for the
next six quarters, and $179,000 million in total thereafter, spread over approximately four quarters. No further
grants may be made pursuant to the Human Code Plan. Previously outstanding options under the Human
Code Plan remain outstanding, and are exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock.

(h) 2001 Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 2001 Stock Option Plan (the 2001 Plan) authorizes the Company to grant options to
purchase common stock to employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. The total number of
shares of common stock which may be issued under the 2001 Plan is 12,000,000 shares. The 2001 Plan is
administered by the Board of Directors, or a subcommittee thereof, which selects the persons to whom stock
options are granted and determines the number of shares, the exercise prices, the vesting terms and the
expiration date. Under the terms of the 2001 Plan, no stock options, including non-qualified options, may be
granted at exercise prices which are below the grant date fair market value of the common stock. Stock
options granted under the 2001 Plan are nontransferable, generally become exercisable over a four-year period
and expire ten years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the termination of the
optionee’s employment or other relationship with the Company).

A summary of the status of the Company’s eight stock option plans as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 and changes during the years then ended is presented below:

2001 2000 1999
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Fixed Options Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

(In thousands, except per share data)

Outstanding at beginning of

YEar ..o 28,034  $23.27 25,048  $11.14 23,500 $ 6.41
Granted................... 7,737  $ 9.75 10,471 $36.67 8,934  $18.62
Exercised ................. {1,929) § 4385 (4,681) § 6.33 (4,118) § 4.13
Forfeited . ................. (9,222) $25.73 (2,804) $22.97 (3,268) § 9.88
Qutstanding at end of year . .. 24,620 $19.55 28,034 $23.27 25,048 $10.77
Options exercisable at year

end.............. .. ... 8,822 6,963 5,048

Weighted average grant date
fair value of options granted
during the year........... § 9.75
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Weighted average grant date
fair value of options granted
during the year below fair
value (see Note 11(f) and
11(g) relating to the
Adjacency and Human
Code Plan) ..............

$ - $ 38.38 $

56
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001:

Options Cutstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average . Average Average
December 31, 2001 Number Remaining Exercise Number Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Qutstanding Centractual Life Price Exercisable Price

(In thousands) (In thousands)

$0.00t0 $5.93 ........... 3,176 6.9 years $ 4.19 1,566 $ 2.85
$594t0 $8.32 ... .. ... 2,947 6.5 years $ 6.54 1,677 $ 6.35
$8.33 to $10.25 .......... 2,769 6.6 years $ 9.60 1,734 $ 9.65
$10.31 to $10.90 ......... 3,861 9.2 years $10.60 98 $10.59
$10.91 to $15.59 ......... 2,941 7.4 years $12.54 1,293 $12.56
$15.60 to $28.69 ......... 2,721 7.6 years $19.99 980 $18.05
$28.70 to $47.75 ......... 2,928 8.2 years $38.83 845 $37.99
$47.76 10 $53.63 ......... 2,531 8.4 years $52.04 456 $51.94
$53.63 t0 $69.27 ......... 719 8.0 years $59.42 166 $59.63
$69.28 t0 $69.28 ......... 27 8.6 years $69.28 7 $69.28
$0.00 to $69.28 .......... 24620 7.7 years $19.55 8,822 $15.08

The Company has eight stock-based compensation plans, which are described above. The Company
applies APB Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its plans. Had compensation cost for the
awards under those plans been determined based on the grant date fair values, consistent with the method
required under SFAS 123, the Company’s net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been
reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

2001 2000 1999
(In thousands except per share data)

-Net income (loss)

Asteported .. ... ... $(189,768) $ 46,960  $30,300

Proforma. ....oovii i $(252,012) $(10,806) $(9,798)
Basic net income (loss) per share

Asreported .. ... $ (1.33) $ 039 $ 027

Proforma. .. .....cooouineeeiii i $ (203 $ (0.09) $ (0.09)
Diluted net income (loss) per share

Asreported ... ... $ (153) $ 035 § 024

Pro forma. ... ..o $  (203) $ (0.09) $ (0.09)

The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The following are the weighted average assumptions for grants in 2001, 2000 and 1999:
dividend yield of 0.0 percent for each year; expected volatility of 117, 119 and 73 percent in 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively; risk free interest rates ranging from 3.9 to 6.2 percent; and expected lives of 4 years. The
pro forma impact on the three years ended December 31, 2001 is not necessarily representative of the pro
forma effects which may be expected in future years.

(12) Retirement Plans

The Company established a 401(k) retirement savings plan for employees in June 1994. Under the
provisions of the plan, the Company matches 25 percent of an employee’s contribution, up to a maximum of
$1,250 per employee per year. Total Company contributions in 2001, 2000 and 1999 were approximately
$2.3 million, $1.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively.
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(13) Stockholders’ Equity
(a) Increase in Authorized Common Stock, Stock Splits

On October 21, 1999, the Company declared a two-for-one stock split effected as a 100% stock dividend

distributed on November 5, 1999, to all shareholders of record on November 1, 1999,

At the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 22, 2000, the stockholders voted to
approve an amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation which
increased the number of authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 to 200,000,000.

On August 1, 2000, the Company declared a two-for-one stock split effected as a 100% stock dividend

distributed on August 28, 2000, to all shareholders of record on August 14, 2000.

The financial statements and all financial information included in this report have been restated for all

periods presented to reflect the two-for-one stock splits.

(b) Preferred Stock

On February 13, 1996, the Board of Directors authorized an amendment to the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation giving the Board the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares, $0.01 par value, of preferred stock

with terms to be established by the Board at the time of issuance.

c) Treasury Stock

On September 20, 2001, the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to
$25.0 million over a one-year period. This program became effective immediately. Any purchases under the
stock repurchase program may be made from time-to-time, in the open market, through block trades or
otherwise. At December 31, 2001, 110,000 shares of common stock were repurchased and placed in treasury.

(d} Earnings {Loss) Per Share

The following information presents the Company’s computation of basic and diluted EPS for the periods
presented in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands, except per share data):

2001 2000 1999

Net Income (L0sS) ... i $(189,768) $46,960  $30,300
Basic Net Income (Loss) per Share:

Weighted average common shares outstanding ............ 124,256 119,191 111,418

Shares used in computing per share amount .............. 124,256 119,191 111,418

Basic net income (loss) per share ...................... $§ (1.53) § 039 § 027
Diluted Net Income (Loss) per Share:

Weighted average common shares outstanding ............ 124,256 119,191 111,418

Dilutive stock options . ...t — 14,573 14,208

Shares used in computing per share amount.............. 124,256 133,764 125,626

Diluted net income (loss) pershare..................... $ (1.53) $ 035 § 0.24

Options to purchase approximately 22.5 million shares of common stock were outstanding for the year
ended December 31, 2001 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the Company
recorded a net loss for the year. Options to purchase approximately 3.9 million and 298,000 shares of common
stock for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, were outstanding but were not included
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in the computations of diluted EPS because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average
market price of the Company’s common stock for the period reported.

(14} Acquisitions

On October 25, 2000, the Company consummated an agreement to acquire TLG, a provider of strategy
and business consulting services. Upon consummation, the Company invested approximately $2.2 million in
cash directly into TLG for a 75% ownership position. In July 2001, per the agreement, the Company acquired
the remaining 25% of TLG in exchange for approximately 671,000 shares of its common stock. The Company
also issued approximately 1,529,000 shares of its common stock to the former TLG employees continuing with
the Company. These shares are restricted and subject to vesting based on continued employment with the
Company. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the purchase price was allocated
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. The $5.0 million paid in
July 2001 was included in the overall purchase price and in the accompanying balance sheet as an acquisition
payable at December 31, 2000. TLG’s results of operations are included in the Company’s consolidated
statement of operations from the date of acquisition. The Company began to amortize the $10.0 million of
restricted common stock over the vesting period of 4.75 years commencing on October 25, 2000. The total
compensation charge was approximately $2.1 million and $351,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001
and 2000, respectively. The Company expects this charge to be approximately $527,000 for each of the next
fourteen quarters, or $2.1 million annually. Pro forma results combining the Company and TLG are not
materially different from the Company’s results of operations.

On August 28, 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Human Code for
approximately $133.1 million in stock and replacement of existing Human Code stock options, and direct
acquisition costs of approximately $1.9 million. Human Code is a provider of interactive design services for
broadband applications. The Company issued approximately 1,508,000 shares of its common stock and
approximately 471,000 stock options of the Company pursuant to this acquisition. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. In 2001, 150,334 shares were returned to Sapient upon
resolution of a purchase price claim asserted by the Company pursuant to the terms of the acquisition
agreement. These shares were valued at $944,000, the fair value of the shares on the date that the former
Human Code shareholders agreed to the return of the shares, and were recorded as a reduction to goodwill.
Human Code’s results of operations are inctuded in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations from
the date of acquisition.

A summary of the acquisition follows (in thousands):

CoOmmMON SEOCK . .ot e $100,228
StOCK OPHIONS . L . ot e e 29,941
TranSaCHION COSTS . o o vttt ettt e e e 1,941
Total consideration ... ... ... 132,110
Fair value of net liabilities assumed ........... ... .. ... i 2,161
Excess of purchase price over fair value of net tangible assets acquired . ........... $134,271
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The excess of purchase price over fair value of net tangible assets acquired was allocated as follows (in
thousands):

CUSTOMET CONITACES . . .\ vttt et e e e et e e e e et e e et ea $ 300
Assembled workforce and employment agreements . ........ ... ... . .ol 2,900
Deferred cOmMPensation . . .. ..ottt e e e 11,185
Developed technology . . ...t e 13,000
Deferred inCOME taXES . ...ttt et ettt e e e (6,480)
GoodWill. . oo 1 13‘,366
Total . oo $134,271

These assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over lives principally ranging from one to seven
years.

Below are the pro forma results of operations for the Company and Human Code assuming that the
acquisition of Human Code occurred at the beginning of each twelve-month period ended December 31, 2000
and 1999.

2000 1999

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per
share data)

Nt TEVRIUES . . oot et e e $516,800 $292,198
Net INCOME . ..ot e e $ 26,641 $ 6,207
Basic net income pershare .......... .. ... .. i $ 022 $ 006
Diluted net income per share .......... ... ... ... it $ 020 $ 005

The unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that
would have occurred had this acquisition been consummated as of January 1, 2000 and January 1, 1999,
respectively, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results.

On June 30, 2000, the Company invested $2.0 million directly in HWT, Inc. (HWT, formerly
HealthWatch Technologies, L.L.C.) in connection with a reorganization of HWT. As a result of this
investment and reorganization, the Company’s equity ownership of HWT increased to approximately 55% and
the Company now controls HWT. Prior to the reorganization, the Company had a less than 50% non-
controlling ownership interest in HWT and accounted for this investment using the equity method of
accounting. The consolidated statements of operations include the results of operations of HWT from the date
of this additional investment. The investment and reorganization has been accounted for as a purchase and,
accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair values. Pro forma results combining the Company and HWT are not materially different from
the Company’s results of operations.

On October 8, 1999, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of E.Lab L.L.C. (E.Lab) for
approximately $5.0 million, including acquisition costs of approximately $875,000. The Company issued
176,088 shares of its common stock and assumed certain liabilities of E.Lab, a provider of experience
modeling services. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the purchase price was
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. Intangible assets
related to the E.Lab acquisition are comprised of approximately $300,000 for assembled workforce and
$5.2 million for goodwill, which represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable
assets acquired. These intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of two to
seven years.
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Below are the pro forma results of operations for the Company and E.Lab assuming that the acquisition
of E.Lab occurred at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 1999.

1999

(Unaudited)
(In thousands,

except per
share data)
Nt REVEMUCS . . ottt et et e e e e e e e e "~ $280,018
Net INCOmMIE . . $ 30,094
Basic net income pershare. ... ... ... ... $ 027
Diluted net income per share ............ . $ 024

On March 29, 1999, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Adjacency. This
acquisition was accomplished through the issuance of 3,162,696 shares of the Company’s common stock for all
of the outstanding shares of Adjacency, a provider of integrated full service e-business solutions. This
acquisition has been accounted for using the pooling of interests-method of accounting and the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements have been restated for all periods presented to reflect this acquisition.
Costs, which consisted primarily of investment banking, accounting and legal fees related to this acquisition
approximated $2.3 million and are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 1999.

During the period from January 1, 1996 through March 29, 1999 (the date of the Company’s acquisition
of Adjacency), Adjacency elected to be treated as an S-Corporation for income tax purposes. Under this
election, Adjacency’s individual stockholders are deemed to have received a pro rata distribution of taxable
income (loss) of Adjacency (whether or not an actual distribution was made), which is included in each
stockholder’s taxable income. Accordingly, Adjacency did not provide for income taxes during the period from
January 1, 1996 through March 29, 1999. Adjacency’s S-Corporation tax reporting status was terminated on
the date of acquisition.

(15) Related Party Transactions

During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized approximately $1.6 million, $1.4 million and
$3.6 million, respectively, in net revenues from consulting services provided to related parties in which the
Company has non-controlling equity interests. In addition to recognizing revenue for services provided to
Sapient S.p.A., the Company reduced general and administrative expenses by approximately $322,000 and
$992,000 for start up and administrative services billed to the joint venture during 2001 and 2000, respectively.
At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had receivables due from these entities of approximately
$434,000 and $2.4 million, respectively. The Company incurred costs of approximately $361,000 and $863,000
in start up services provided by DI to Sapient KK for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, of which approximately $1,500 and $155,000 is included in accounts payable at December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

On January 31, 2000, the Company entered into a strategic relationship with a client which included,
among other things, the Company becoming a preferred supplier to that client and its affiliated entities. As
part of the relationship, the co-CEQOs and co-chairmen of the Board of Directors of the Company each issued
a $10.0 million convertible note to the client. The notes are convertible into shares of the Company’s common
stock owned by the co-CEQOs and co-chairmen at a conversion rate equal to the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the date the convertible notes were executed. The client’s ability to convert the notes is
subject to certain vesting restrictions, based upon the client’s ability to achieve certain revenue targets to
Sapient within prescribed timeframes. The notes cannot be converted before May 15, 2002.
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. (16) Quarterly Financial Results (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth certain unaudited quarterly results of operations of the Company for 2001
and 2000. The quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations.

Three Months Ended (Unaudited)
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2001 2001 2001 2061
(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenues. ............. .. $109,141 § 87,286 $ 69,980 $ 63,291
Operating expenses:
Project personnel costs ................ 74,409 63,578 51,510 46,269
Selling and marketing costs ............ 7,516 8,377 5,948 6,108
General and administrative costs . ....... 39,618 34,641 29,352 28,118
Restructuring and other related charges .. 47,342 3,470 42,608 7,220
Amortization of intangible assets........ 6,593 6,593 7,504 7,436
Stock-based compensation ............. 1,501 1,309 939 700
Total operating expenses . ............ 176,979 117,968 137,861 95,851
Loss from operations . . .................. (67,838)  (30,682) (67,881) (32,560)
Gain on equity investment change in interest 1,407 — —_ —
Other (expense) income . ................ (2,357) (2,339) (131) 150
Interest income ........................ 3,022 2,674 2,315 1,396
Loss before income taxes, net equity loss
- - from investees and minority interest .. ... (65,766)  (30,347) (65,697) (31,014)
— Income tax provision (benefit)............ (17,622)  (13,134) 29,030 (1,363)
Loss before net equity loss from investees
and minority interest .................. (48,144)  (17,213) (94,727) (29,649)
Net equity loss from investees ............ (110) (241) (113) : (35)
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated
subsidiary ......... ... . o 1 84 189 190
Netloss. ..o $(48,253) $(17,370)  $(94,651) $(29,494)
Basic net loss pershare. . ................ $ (039 $ (0.14) § (0.76) $ (0.23)
Diluted net loss per share . ............... $ (039 $§ (0.14) §$ (0.76) $ (0.23)
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Three Months Ended (Unaudited)
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2000 2000 2000 2000
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues. ..o, $100,334  $125,769 $138,057 $139,179
Operating expenses:

Project personnel costs ................ 48,575 60,321 63,183 72,200

Selling and marketing costs ............ 7,885 7,769 7,986 10,263

General and administrative costs .. ...... 25,253 33,753 38,132 38,286

Amortization of intangible assets ... ..... 884 757 2,935 6,752

Stock-based compensation ............. 110 110 454 1,491

Total operating expenses .. ........... 82,707 102,710 117,690 128,992

Income from operations ................. 17,627 23,059 20,367 10,187
Other expense ...........covuiiniennn. — — —_ (1,250)
Interest income ............ ... ..., 2,473 2,768 3,248 3,189
Income before income taxes, net equity loss

from investees and minority interest . .. .. 20,100 25,827 23,613 12,126
Income tax provision.................... 7,857 10,589 11,536 3,943
Income before net equity loss from investees

and minority interest . ................. 12,243 15,238 12,079 8,183
Net equity loss from investees ............ (353) (276) (93) (156)
Minority interest in net loss of consolidated

subsidiary . ....... ... . e — — — 95
Netincome.........ooiiiiineiinaon.. $ 11,890 $ 14,962 $ 11,986 $ 8,122
Basic net income per share............... $ 010 $ 0.3 $ 0.10 $ 007
Diluted net income per share ............. $§ 009 § 011 $  0.09 $ 0.06

(17) Subsequent Event (Unaudited)

Due to the enactment of “The Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002” on March 9, 2002, the
Company will be able to carryback its 2001 tax net operating loss for U.S. federal purposes to all previous tax
years to 1996. Including the $13.6 million income tax receivable included in the consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2001, the Company estimates that it will recover in 2002 approximately $32 million of taxes
paid in prior years.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Sapient Corporation:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated January 23, 2002
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K also included an audit of the financial statement schedule
listed in Item 14(a) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
January 23, 2002

64




SAPIENT CORPORATION

SCHEDULE I — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(In thousands)

Balance at Balance at
) Beginning Charge to End of
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts of Year Expense Write-Offs Year

$ 550 $1,246 $ (550) $1,246
$1,246 $6,347 $(2,160)  $5,433
$5,433 $2,706 $(4,919)  $3,220

December 31, 1999, . ... .. .
December 31, 2000. . ... ... ...

December 31, 2001, .. .. ... .. ... . .
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

PART I
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company
A. Directors and Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

The response to this Item regarding the directors of the Company and compliance with Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act by the Company’s officers and directors will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the
2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Election of Directors” and Section 16(a)
“Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and is incorporated herein.

B. Executive Officers of the Company

The response to this Item is contained in Part I, after Item 4.

Item E1. Executive Compensation

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the captions “Director Compensation” and “Compensation of Executive Officers” and is
incorporated herein.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the caption “Security Cwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and is
incorporated herein.

ftern 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions™ and is incorporated herein.

PART 1V
Ktem 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

14(a) (1) Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements filed as part of this report are listed and indexed on page 34.
Schedules other than those listed in the index have been omitted because they are not applicable or the
required information has been included elsewhere in this report.

14(a) (2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule TF — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves are included in this report.
14(a)(3) Exhibits

The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index
immediately preceding the exhibits. The Company has identified in the Exhibit Index each management

contract and compensation plan filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K in response to
Item 14(c¢) of Form 10-K.

14(b) Reports on Form 8-K
Not Applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SAPIENT CORPORATION

By: /s/ JERRY A. GREENBERG

Jerry A. Greenberg
Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 235, 2002
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the following capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature Title Date

Principal Executive Officers:

/s/  JERRY A. GREENBERG Co-Chairman and March 25, 2002
Co-Chief Executive Officer

Jerry A. Greenberg

/s/ J. STUART MOORE Co-Chairman and March 25, 2002
J. Stuart Moore Co-Chief Executive Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer:

/s/  SusaN D. JOHNSON Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer March 25, 2002
Susan D. Johnson '

Directors:

/s/ JERRY A. GREENBERG March 25, 2002
Jerry A. Greenberg

/s!/ J. STUART MOORE March 25, 2002
J. Stuart Moore

/s/  STEPHEN CHEHEYL March 25, 2002
R. Stephen Cheheyl

/s/  DARIUS W. GASKINS, JR. March 25, 2002
Darius W. Gaskins, Jr.

/s/ BRUCE D. PARKER March 25, 2002
Bruce D. Parker

/s/ CARL S. SLOANE March 25, 2002
Carl S. Sloane

/s/  JURGEN WEBER March 25, 2002
Jiirgen Weber
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number Description |
3.1! — Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.2? — Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.3° — Second Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora-
tion
3.4! — Amended and Restated Bylaws
4.1 ~ Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Stock, $.01 par value, of the Company
10.1(a)" — Lease dated March 30, 1994 between the Company and One Memorial Drive Limited
Partnership for offices at One Memorial Drive, Cambridge, MA
10.1(b)* — Second Amendment to Lease dated April 1997 for offices at One Memorial Drive,
Cambridge, MA
10.2%4 ~— 1992 Stock Plan
10.3%'+ — 1996 Equity Stock Incentive Plan
10.4%'% — 1996 Director Stock Option Plan
10.5%% — 1998 Stock Incentive Plan
10.6¥%¢ ~— 2001 Stock Incentive Plan

(1)10.7(a)***t+ — 2001 1H Performance Incentive Bonus Plan
(1)10.7(b) ***t — 2001 2H Performance Incentive Bonus Plan

10.8(a)’ — Revolving Loan Facility with Fleet Boston, N.A., dated June 30, 2000

10.8(b)® — Loan Modification Agreement and Waiver dated June 29, 2001 with Fleet Boston, N.A.

10.8(c)® — Second Loan Modification Agreement dated August 30, 2001 with Fleet Boston, N.A.

10.97¢ — Letter Agreement between Sapient Corporation and Bruce D. Parker dated November 15,
1999

10.10% — Letter Agreement between Sapient Corporation and Edward G. Goldfinger dated Novem-
ber 15, 1999

21%* — List of Subsidiaries

23.1(a)** — Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

*  Exhibits previously filed pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 10-K.
**  Exhibits filed herewith.
***  Exhibits filed herewith and pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 10-X.
(1) Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-1586).
Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998
(File No. 000-28074).
Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000
(File No. 000-28074).
Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
1997 (File No. 000-28074).
Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (File No. 000-23074).
Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2001 (File No. 000-28074).
Incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2000

(File No. 000-28074).
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Suite 1500

Toronto, Ontario M5H 2G4
tel: +1 416 645 1500

EUROPE
GERMANY

Diisseldorf
Speditionsstrafle 5
D-40221 Diisseldorf
Germany

tel: +49 (0) 211 540 34 0

Munich

Kellerstrafle 27

81667 Miinchen
Germany

tel: +49 (0) 89 552 9870

ITALY

Milan

Via Crocefisso, 19
20122 Milano

Italy

tel: +39 02 58217 1

UNITED KINGDOM

London
1 Bartholomew Lane
London, EC2N 2AX

tel: +44 (0] 207 786 4500

Sapient

Making
Technology
Matter

ASIA
INDIA

New Delhi

The Presidency
Mehrauli-Gurgaon Road
Sector-14

Gurgaon 122 001
Haryana

India

tel: +91 124 6808018

JAPAN

Tokyo

Toranomon 40 Mori Building
5-13-1 Toranomon
Minato-ku Tokyo

Japan 105-0001

Second Floor

tel: +81 3 5777 3300




